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Friday, July 24, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:38 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Before we start, are there any preliminary matters?  Very well, then.  Mr. Shepherd, we are in your hands.
GREATER SUDBURY HYDRO INC. - PANEL 2 (resumed)
^
John Douglas Reeves, Previously sworn


Stanly Pawlowicz, Previously sworn


Brian Alan McMillan, Previously sworn


Nancy Whissell, Previously sworn

Jodie Koski; Sworn

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Yesterday we left off, we were talking about water billing, and I wonder if it's possible to turn to transcript -- or technical conference Undertaking No. 10, which is the -- which is the -- well, perhaps you could identify this, witnesses.  What is this document?

It's on the screen.  Do you have it?  Do you have the full document in front of you?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We have the document on the screen.  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you tell us what it is?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It appears to be an extract of the council of the City of Sudbury, their minutes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Their agenda, I should say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you look through the undertaking, you will see it includes -- the next page is the motion.  The next page is the memo from you, Mr. Reeves, and you, Mr. Pawlowicz, to the board, and the next several pages after that are the actual contract, the water billing contract; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me -- you talked about this a little bit with Mr. Buonaguro yesterday, so this was not -- although the contract is dated April 1st, 2004, in fact, it wasn't approved until a little more than a year later; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  There were some negotiations that were going on with how staff would be reallocated and certain other matters, but, in actual fact, the resources did come over and we were operating as if we were under contract.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, you said -- in your memo, you said that you'd been providing the services since April 1st, 2004, but you didn't actually execute the document because of issues related to, and I am quoting, "the fair and equitable treatment of the employee complement"; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there were union issues; right?

MR. REEVES:  I can't recall, you know, and I could take the time to read that, but the city had billing clerks, and, as a part of the resolve to the whole issue, I think five came over.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  I think more specifically, Doug, if I may add to that, there were issues with management staff that were associated with water billing.  We did not take that staff with us and we got into extensive discussions, because it was, We don't want them, you don't want them, kind of thing.  But it was management staff.  The union staff was very, very, very happy to come over.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then if you turn to the agreement, the agreement says it was made April 1st, 2004, but that's not correct; right?  It was actually backdated and it was actually signed in April 2005; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The signing -- concurrent with the documentation that was presented to you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would be in April 2005?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, after the board meeting, that memo that you referred to our board, the authority to execute the contract was given to us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You wouldn't in fact have executed it, the two of you, I guess, until your board said, yes, it's okay; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, makes sense.  So where it says it was made April 1st, 2004, that's not true.  It was made as of that date -- effective that date, but it wasn't made on that date?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Has this been amended since the date it was executed?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is the current agreement in place?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  This is the current agreement that's in place.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The amendment here that says Greater Sudbury Hydro Plus Inc. -- do you see that on the first page, instead of Greater Sudbury Utilities?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was made prior to execution?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That would have been made concurrent with the signing when we noticed that the corporate entity was an inappropriate one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Greater Sudbury Utilities Inc. is the holding company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And the reason for this is that at this time, you were in the middle of changing over your structure, and we saw, in fact, you were in correspondence with the Board about how to set up your structure, right, the Ontario Energy Board?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Our structure was pretty much in place at this particular juncture.  The corporate shells were in place, and personnel were adjusted on the basis on the transfer bylaws, and all of the legal and technical aspects were in place.  Sudbury Hydro was in place.  We were all employees of Greater Sudbury Hydro Plus by that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When did Hydro Plus start?

MR. REEVES:  With incorporation.  When we were incorporated, we set up as a services structure.  Now, we did make changes after the correspondence with Mr. Hewson that we talked about yesterday.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was in 2006?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.  We made a number of structural changes at that time to comply with his request.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you take a look at page 3 of the agreement?  It's article 2.  You talked about this as a ten-year agreement.  This looks to me like an eight-year agreement -- was actually less than seven years, really, because it was signed later, but it was an eight-year agreement, right, in fact?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  With a renewal option, I believe, of two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Help me with that.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I believe there's an automatic renewal provision in this agreement.

MR. REEVES:  Thereafter, it would be automatically renewed annually.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So help me.  Where did the ten years come from?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It definitely was the number that we did quote, and it was on the basis of the renewal contract.  The dates were specified, as were outlined to you, on the basis of that clause.  Providing the service levels were satisfactory, it automatically renewed, but we gave you the proper expiration date of that particular contract, which I believe is 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So are you telling me that 201 says that this keeps on renewing, as long as the service levels are met, forever?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It could.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you can never get out of it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We certainly can.  With two years of notice we can get out of it.

MS. NOWINA:  Where do you see that in the contract, sir?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Article 12, 12.03.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So by March 31st, 2010, you can give notice saying on March 31st, 2012, this is done?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then it is an eight-year --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is an eight-year agreement.  It's not a ten-year agreement?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, that can be your interpretation.  You know, I think the performance is satisfactory.  We can terminate it tomorrow or they can terminate it with two years' notice if we are not performing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Pawlowicz, what you said yesterday -- I don't know whether it was you or Mr. Reeves said yesterday that you are stuck with this agreement, whatever the transfer pricing rules are.  You entered into an agreement and you are stuck with it.

But you are not stuck with it, are you?  It's an eight-year agreement and you don't need to renew it anymore, so you seem to be assuming you are going to renew it anyway?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I make that assumption, yes.  We entered into it.  The system is working well.  There are benefits to the consumers, as I reflected yesterday.  There is no reason why this contract would not be extended, in my minds.  Okay.  If there should be a directive, we can certainly invoke that clause, but it's still in force for an additional two-year period, the notice period, or the expiration of the contract.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then can you go to article 3?  This is the description of services you providing for the fees you get.  That's right?  It’s description of the services you are providing for the fees you get; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And what you said yesterday was water billing is simple:  You read the meter, you put it on the bill, it goes out.  It’s done.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This doesn't seem like that.  It seems like you have a lot more things to do.  In fact, it looks to me like you have all the same things to do with water billing as you have to do with electric billing and I invite you to tell us what the differences are.  Go through this list and tell us which things are different.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I think that we would prefer to address this completely as an undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are welcome to do that, but I am still going to ask you questions about these duties.  Why don't we go through it and see how far we get.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Okay, that's fine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you said yesterday, for example, that collections with water is dead simple because it just goes on the taxes.  That's not actually correct, is it?  What actually has to happen is you a series of processes you have to go through.  Just as you collect electricity bills, you have to send out arrears certificates, you have to take certain steps before you are allowed to put them on the taxes; isn't that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the only difference is the very few that, in the end don’t pay after all the normal collections, you have a route to get the money through taxes.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  But the practicalities are that there is an individual at the city that does handle all of that.  So when an account goes into arrears, we just move it off to them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I am looking at 301(3), “Prepare and mail responses to request for verification of arrears.”  Is that not you?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The system would attend to most of these particular functions on an automated basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me go to the next page, “Collections.”
"Number 1:  Monitor account activity and initiate collection of past due accounts in accordance with the collection procedures set out in schedule E and the utility’s best practices."


In other words, collect the same way as you do your electric bill; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's an automated process.  The dummy letters go out automatically.  It's a joint invoice and the system spews this out.  It's mailed out.  We do not see it.  We do not touch it.   It goes out to a third party.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, and it's exactly the same thing as you do with the electric bill; right?  Same system?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  When you -- at that particular juncture, yes.  If there are arrears on the water account.  There could be settlements of the electricity account and not the water account, vice versa.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  But the process is automated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's interesting you say that, because of course we have had that with other utilities where they have multiple things on the bills.  So I am going to ask you for -- before we get to what the undertaking on what the differences are, will you give us an undertaking as to how many times last year the electric bill was settled and the water bill was not and vice versa on joint bills?  Will you undertake to provide that?  It won't be -- we will be able to count on the fingers of one hand won't we, Mr. Pawlowicz?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I don't believe that's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide the number, those two numbers?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We will certainly undertake to provide the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Undertaking J2.1.  And just so that we are clear, this is a basically an accounting of how many times electric bills were not paid but water bills were and vice versa.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On joint bills.

MS. SEBALJ:  On joint bills.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1: TO PROVIDE AN ACCOUNTING OF HOW MANY TIMES ELECTRIC BILLS WERE NOT PAID BUT WATER BILLS WERE AND VICE VERSA ON JOINT BILLS

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the second undertaking is the one you have already offered, and that is I wonder if you can undertake to tell us how your activities associated with the billing and collection of electricity bills are different from the water side.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes. And that's and Undertaking J2.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  To ADVISE HOW ACTIVITIES ASSOCIATED WITH THE BILLING AND COLLECTION OF ELECTRICITY BILLS ARE DIFFERENT FROM THE WATER SIDE

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, just as you -- just as you have to manage your electric billing collection, you have to manage the water billing collection; right?  You have supervisory personnel et cetera, you have a system in place an infrastructure.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It’s same infrastructure for both?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.  It’s the automated infrastructure of the advance utility billing system and it would be emulated in the SAP system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at 302(b) which says one of the things you are providing at your sole cost and expense is all administrative and management personnel and services, blah, blah, blah.  That's all the same, regardless of whether it's electricity or water, it's all the same people doing all the same things as the infrastructure around the activity; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The -- I am looking at 403.  This talks about quality control and it basically says that the city can establish quality control rules.  Am I right in assuming that the quality control that is applied to water billing is the same as electric billing?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have a few things that you have to do differently because, for example, the municipal access to information act, MFIPPA, or whatever that's called, is something that you are not obligated to comply with but the city is; right?  There are a few things like that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  There are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they are not major things.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  There is a person at the City of Sudbury that handles all of those kinds of affairs as well as interacts with the customer, makes decisions relative to collectability and all of those aspects so the account is transferred over to them at a certain point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And there is also a citizens’ service policy and a policy concerning the use of the French and English languages.  Those policies of the city, you follow similar policies anyway, don't you?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in 501, the fees stated here are $630,440, and I wonder if you can help me with -- does that include the meter reading costs?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, meter reading costs are over and above.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Help me understand this --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I am going to be corrected here.

We can't recollect the specifics at this juncture, so we can undertake to give you the details.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess here's my problem, is that if it doesn't include the meter reading, then given that this is an index contract, how could the fee this year be 600 plus meter reading?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  There was one small component that we were just chatting about, trying to recollect, that was subsequently adjusted to bring the price into the 600 range, and meter reading -- all meter reading -- it has something to do with meter reading costs, but I can't remember the specifics, and then the arrangement became -- well, it didn't become, because it says so in this contract, as well, that all meter reading costs would be passed through on a direct basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's actually not what it says, and that's why I asked the question, because if you look at 5.03, it says:

"The annual fee will be adjusted by changes to the meter reading costs."


That would suggest to me that the annual fee includes meter reading, and, if meter reading goes up or down, then the annual fee goes up or down.


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's a correct statement, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that was easier than I thought.  And then -- so then --

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't want to wait to the undertakings to try to figure this out myself.  So rather than come back to it, while you are on it, I don't understand the nature of this, so can you explain to me what 5.01 means when it says the annual fee of this amount prorated in 2004?


What does that mean?  How does that proration --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It was a partial year.  We started midstream within the year.  So since it was a flat fee, it was prorated for -- from the time that we --


MS. NOWINA:  Prorated for 2004, but there on --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  From there on, it was going to be a flat rate.


MS. NOWINA:  -- 600 and 3,400?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:

MS. NOWINA:  All right, that's helpful.  Then going to section 5.03, and I guess that's the part that you are getting the undertaking on, but as much as you can explain it now, can you explain to me, in principle, what you think it means by being adjusted to reflect changes in the meter reading cost?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Each year, at the inception of the year, from the base amount - and that's where my issue is.  I use the number of 600,000 as the base.  It's adjusted by the Consumer Price Index.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  And the rationale behind that was the employees that were transferred to us, there was obviously inflationary increases associated with that, as well as all of the other -- you know, postage and letterhead, et cetera, that we utilized to service that contract.


So it passed on, so we were to remain whole.


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe we can parse that one piece at a time.  And I am sorry if I am not picking up on what you are trying to say.  I don't see anything here about -- so this is an inflationary adjustment?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  So they have tied meter reading costs to inflationary adjustments or this agreement?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, meter reading is actual basis.  It passes through dollar for dollar.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  So it has the inflationary adjustment plus a meter reading adjustment?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.


MS. WHISSELL:  If I may, where Mr. Pawlowicz has offered an undertaking, I do a calculation of the end year to true up that will identify the breakdown of the 630, but will also identify how we true up the meter reading costs, and I think that would at least give you a better visual picture.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay, thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's good.  Thank you.  That was very helpful.  Can I confirm, then, that you have said that that 630 includes meter reading; right?


MS. WHISSELL:  I believe -- and that's why I can see it in front of me, but I would undertake to say that we will provide you the document.  There is a component of meter reading in there, but clause 5.03 basically indicates that if the meter reading costs are higher than originally estimated, that we would pass the full cost on to the city.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to figure out is, in the first year, were your fees 630,440 plus meter reading, or 630,440, period?


MS. WHISSELL:  630,440, which includes a component of meter reading, plus an additional adjustment to bring meter reading up to actual versus what we had originally estimated in the 630, is what I recollect, okay?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You will undertake to provide us with details of that?


MS. SEBALJ:  That's undertaking J2.3.  And just so that we are clear, the only thing -- you have answered the question, I think, with respect to what's included, so the only thing that's being provided is a year-end accounting of the flat fee and any other adjustments that are made to that flat fee with respect to pricing in 5.03 of the contract?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not actually -- I don't think that's what I asked for.  I think what is the undertaking that's proposed is to clarify to what extent meter reading is included in the 630, because it's not totally included, and how that tracks out going forward.  Is that fair?


MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. SEBALJ:  Fair enough.  That's J2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO PROVIDE TO WHAT EXTENT METER READING IS INCLUDED IN FIGURE OF 630,400 IN CLAUSE 5.01 OF THE CONTRACT and provide annual true-up calculations for each year

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so when you said that you pay the meter reading separately as a direct contract to Olameter, in practice that's what you do, but in fact legally it's part of your fee to the city?  Most of it's part of your fee to the city; right?


MS. WHISSELL:  Because it's a pass-through.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it's a pass-through but --

MS. WHISSELL:  Because it's a pass-through, yes, we pay the meter reader contractor, and then we bill those costs to the city, in effect.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You deduct what you pay the city in their fee?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.


MS. WHISSELL:  No, we bill the city a fixed monthly invoice based on what we anticipate the cost will be for the year, and when we true it up at the end of the year, we do an adjusting invoice.


MR. SHEPHERD:  To make sure you recover all the Olameter costs.  Perfect, okay.

So then I am coming down to 6.02.  This is -- I am going to come back up to 5.04.  I want to find out about that.  But 6.02 is -- you are assuming contracts.  I assume the contracts you got included the meter reading contract?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it doesn't say here anywhere in this agreement, that I can see, that the amounts you pay on that contract are offset against the fees, and, in fact, my read of it says that whatever you pay on those contracts you assumed are in addition to your fees.

Help me out with this.  That's not what happens, in fact; right?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's not what happens.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can take this in bits and pieces and maybe it's easier.  The first part is, in 6.02, aside -- we weren't provided with schedule D when you provided this agreement; right?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Schedule D, the contracts and commitments you assumed, was that only meter reading or was there other things, as well?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I believe the only contract was meter reading.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are sure, or you don't remember?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I am going from memory.  To the best of my belief.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if I understand your evidence, it is, although you have assumed that contract, it's only in the sense that you make the payments on the contract, but then you deduct that -- then you recover that from the city?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So although this agreement doesn't say that, that is what in fact happens?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's in fact what happens.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, you recover in addition to the 630, in addition to that?  That's extra billing to the city?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In addition, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's be clear.  The 630 already includes most of the meter reading; right?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think that's the evidence we just got.


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  A component of it, but not most of it.

MS. WHISSELL:  I don't know the breakdown.   We have to provide it.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Our actual billing for last year, I believe, was the 729 that we used throughout this document.

MS. WHISSELL:  I believe so.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  So we billed the city $729,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So given the 729 is made up of 133 for meter reading, and the balance, which is the 596, right, which is whatever you started with indexed to inflation, which means you started at about 540 or so, which means that there was $93,000 of meter reading in the 630.  Something like that.  The point is some of it was in there, some of it was not.


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In 5.04, you have -- one of the employees wouldn't come over to the utility?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's the management employee that I was referring to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had to eat -- in fact, you are still eating some of the cost of that management employee under this agreement; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Until I guess sometime this year.  This year you stop eating that cost?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is that in your budget somewhere?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  These costs?  They would flow through on the net proceeds of -- that we receive from the city.

MS. SPOEL:  I am going to interrupt this time.  Does that mean, I read this a few minutes ago before Mr. Shepherd got to it.  I assume what that means, let's just take the 630-figure in here and I don't know what that employee was paid, but out of the 630 that you otherwise would have paid the city in 2004, or 2005, let's say they prorated that, whatever, you would add on some extras for meter reading but you would deduct some funds for that employee.  So if the person was making management employee, let's say, they were making $80,000 or $75,000 that would come off the 630.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.  That will show up on the reconciliation.

MS. SPOEL:  Will that all show up on the year-end adjustments?  Is it clear on there each year how much is being deducted for that employee's costs?


MS. WHISSELL:  Cut me off if you want.  In that original quote where there was a component of meter reading, in our reporting records, the component that is not meter reading is recorded in the Plus company as operating costs for water billing and then we invoice the residual to the wires company.  In the Plus company, we report the revenue and the expenses.  So where we are absorbing these human resource adjustments it is wholly within the Plus company and we do not net costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You lost me.

MS. SPOEL:  I don't understand at all now.

MS. WHISSELL:  Well, you're -- I guess -- if I may, the wires company is not absorbing these human resource costs.  We have an operating cost for water billing, and we kind of do a divisional statement that says here is -- here is the cost for water, and then after we have deducted those costs, we then invoice the wires company for billing services, collection, et cetera.  Within the Plus company, we have those costs of 630 plus the additional meter reading costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay let's --

MS. SPOEL:  But how do you -- when you invoice the city at the end of the year --

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  At the moment, I am -- so who does the invoice to the city?

MS. WHISSELL:  The Plus company invoices the city.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  And that invoice of the city, I am just trying to figure out -- at the moment, I don't really care as between wires and Plus because it's a level of complication that --


MS. WHISSELL:  We invoice them and we do an adjustment that deducts.

MS. SPOEL:  Internally you adjust, but what I am interested in is when you invoice the city, the 729,000 that you invoiced the city last year, that has a component of meter reading in it which you have already said was 133,000.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  It has a component which is what the city is obliged to pay under this contract for the service.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  But deducted from that there is still a portion for this employee that didn't come under section 5.04.

MS. WHISSELL:  In essence, yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Is that all reflected when you send that little year-end adjustment, are all those items reflected in the final invoice to the city?

MS. WHISSELL:  I am going to say yes.

MS. SPOEL:  It might be useful to have a copy of that, because I think that, and that may explain, Mr. Shepherd, why the 630 doesn't quite match up because you they deducted monies from the 630 before they billed that first year.

MS. WHISSELL:  And it probably is part of the undertaking you have already asked and we said we would provide.

MS. SPOEL:  I think it would be useful to have the year-end true-up for each year under this contract showing those -- all those adjustments.  I think it would make it a lot easier for all of us to understand what's going on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The employee number of that adjustment is small now because you are only obligated for 20 percent this year; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just understand.  The bill that Plus sends to the city in 2009 is expected to be 729, that's net, net, net, everything adjusted 729 is the final number; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  It's an estimate until we true-up at the end of 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not expecting that number plus some adjustments, you are expecting that's the number you are forecasting as the final number; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  But it will be adjusted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For what?

MS. WHISSELL:  Meter reading.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, for meter reading because -- because you are going to pay some substantial amount more?  Or because --

MS. WHISSELL:  It's not a significant adjustment, I don't believe, but it is an adjustment nevertheless, probably under $10,000, I would expect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, all right, let's not worry about that.  So you are going to bill the city 729, say, subject to the small adjustment.  And that is then a credit -- all the costs associated with doing this are in Plus; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you then bill -- Plus then bills, allocates some of those costs to the wires company.  How does that work?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  All costs are incurred, as you stated, in the Plus company.  The entire billing that we send over to the city is credited against the accumulated costs.  The net residual that's left is the wires company's component.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then, what's this thing about the Plus company eating some of the costs?  That's not then correct.

MS. WHISSELL:  The Plus company is absorbing the human resource adjustment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That 20 percent.  And how is it doing that, because it's not included in the costs that are allocated?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. WHISSELL:  That cost is not passed on to the wires company, that cost stays in the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MS. WHISSELL:  Sorry, the Plus company.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The Plus company.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, while Mr. Shepherd pauses, I just want to make sure that when I asked for those year-end reports that is really what I think part of the undertaking that you gave to Ms. Sebalj or perhaps we can create another undertaking for that.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, it will be J2.4 and -- I am just trying to decide if it's the same undertaking as J2.3 but for all the years.

MS. SPOEL:  That's what I assumed but just want to be clear.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay, so extend J2.3 to the year-end invoices with the information that Mr. Shepherd requested for all the years that have elapsed under the contract.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3(EXTENDED):  TO EXTEND J2.3 TO THE YEAR-END INVOICES WITH THE INFORMATION THAT MR. SHEPHERD REQUESTED FOR ALL THE YEARS THAT HAVE ELAPSED UNDER THE CONTRACT

MR. SHEPHERD:  The annual fee calculations.  You do an annual true-up.  You do a calculation; right?  It shows the breakdown; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  And these are the calculations from Plus to the city.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, that was a lot of fun.  Can we go to 6.03?  You transferred some employees.  Are these the four billing employees you're talking about, the four --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was it only four?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  There were five originally.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You talked about the fact that the  city paid something.  They paid the incremental upfront costs to set up your system to do their water billing; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That didn't provide any benefit to utility?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, okay.  In 7.02, you have the utility and the city agree that the city owns the records related to providing the services.  What about -- a lot of these are joint bills.  What about the joint records?  Who owns those?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  They have access through a terminal to all information on site.  That individual that I referred to that administers the water duties has access to the systems.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that person has complete access to the billing system, the same as your supervisor of customer accounts?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that contrary to the Affiliate Relationships Code?  Didn't Mr. Hewson have a problem with that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That was noted as a deficiency, but it was a weakness of the system.  We could not employ a firewall to segregate the data.  There are confidentiality requirements within the terms of the contract, et cetera, with that particular individual who has access.  It's only one person that does have those kinds of accesses.

The new SAP system, we ensured that we had firewall capabilities to address that specific issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Tell me about the confidentiality provisions that protect your utility information in this contract.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, they are stated under 7.4 and 7.3 of the contract.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So unless I am reading this wrong, these are obligations that you have about city information.  There is no obligations here that the city has about utility information, are there?  Unless -- am I reading it wrong?

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, I am not sure that that particular issue has a whole lot to do with rates.  It might be a compliance issue, but we are not here on a compliance hearing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually not --

MS. SPOEL:  In the interest of time, perhaps we can move on, unless there is some bearing on rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was actually a foundation for my final point on this agreement, which is - and I am putting it to the witnesses - that in fact this was not a negotiated agreement.  The city, your shareholder, told you the terms under which it would do this agreement.

I am a lawyer and I can read agreements, and this is a one-sided agreement.  They told you, This is the agreement you are going to sign and you are going to do it for this price; isn't that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, there was extensive negotiation and discussion to arrive at this particular document and to transfer those services back to the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't say, for example, Why aren't we splitting the costs equally?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I explained yesterday how we arrived at the number that we utilized for billing services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So did you say to them -- did you say -- during the course of those negotiations, did you say to them, you know, Rather than you work on our billing system, we would like to buy services on your billing system; can we do that, please?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  As a matter of fact, we did have that kind of conversation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What did they say?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Because of the complexities of the deregulated electricity market, they chose to avoid that opportunity, but it was certainly presented to them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And of course your price would have then -- you would have paid 700 instead of being paid 700; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, I am sure we would have had some negotiations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then I am going to leave that agreement.  I have just one more question about water billing services, and that's if you take a look at -- I think this is VECC 35F.  Sorry, VECC, round 2, 34F.

MS. SPOEL:  What are the dates of the round 2?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the May 19th ones, I think.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder -- you see the chart that you talked about with Mr. Buonaguro yesterday; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can take that $729,677 and break it up into the same categories you have above - that is, what are the costs - because you have a full set of costs in Plus, right, and some of those costs are then allocated to the wires company and some of them are offset here by this water billing, because your actual costs are thirty-six-forty-two-two-o-four; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I wonder is if you can give us a chart that tells us how that $729,677 is broken down in those same categories?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  As I explained earlier, currently we do not approach it that way.  It's based off of the 36 less the 729 to the net that's going to the utility on an allocation.  We do not attempt to break out the costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then I will ask you to do it a different way, then.  Can you take the thirty-six-forty-two-two-o-four, which is your actual costs, and can you break it down in those same categories?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I will just subtract.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, we can break them down.

MS. SEBALJ:  That's J2.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  To provide breakdown into categories of $729,677 in VECC 34F.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if we could turn to -- and I have this as TC -- technical conference Exhibit 4, but I think this is also in the evidence somewhere else.  But we can use this one if you have it there.

This is also an exhibit somewhere else, I think, too; right? This is your overall OM&A cost table.  You can see it on the screen here, as well, because of the assistance of my very able technical advisor.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Buonaguro, can you make it a little bit bigger, because I can't actually read either my binder or on the screen?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Once he tells me what he is looking at, I can make it bigger then.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So do you have that, Mr. Pawlowicz?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I’m looking at the billing and collections section and you have a line there 5315, customer billing.  If I read this across, I believe the first line is -- the first column is your Board-approved, the second is your actual that you spent in 2006; is that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the fourth column is actual 2007, the sixth column is actual 2008 and the -- whatever that is, eighth column or something, 1,695,055 is your budget for this year; is that right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That 1,695,055, we have already identified that's not actually what you expect to spend in this calendar year, right?  This is for some other period, but that's your fiscal year budget.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have already given us an undertaking you are going to provide what you actually expect to spend this year.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My question on this one is:  You’ve got a 253,000 --$254,000 increase in that category, customer billing from 2008 to 2009, so first tell us what that is.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The main components of that, it's the maintenance and support for the SAP system was the primary increase.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought that was 60,000, 62,000 or something?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, that's the ERP.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It’s the maintenance and support for SAP.  So my second question is how much of the city is paying of that?  The answer is none, because under your contract, if you have additional costs, tough luck for you.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then would it be fair to assume that -- I am going to talk about a couple of particular lines on this, and we have talked about this in the technical conference too, I believe, so I am not going to go over all that ground again.  But just as a general question about this budget, is it fair to say that this budget is what you would expect to spend in a typical year at your current spending rate?  It's not what you are going to spend in 2009 or, indeed, you are assuming a delay in your rate order so it's not even what you are going to spend from May 1st, 2009, to April 30th, 2010, right, it's some other amount but it's representative of a full year spending.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  On a full year going forward, I believe that that would be the appropriate base because those maintenance contracts will come into effect in full force.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't just thinking of that line, I am talking about the whole page.  This whole budget is basically a full year's -- a fair base for an IRM period.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is what you are really telling us.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me just ask you about a couple of these things.  You have said, for example, that this big increase in operation, supervision and engineering at the top of the page, this is about, what, 25 percent or something?  That's your apprentices; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  There are four new positions there.

MR. McMILLAN:  Two apprentices in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Two apprentices?  And two full-time people?  Oh, no, one of those people is in smart meters.

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.  One is in smart grid and the other isn't there, the other is down further in some of the other categories.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a 20 or 25 percent increase in load dispatching, this is your control room; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a 24/7 control room?

MR. McMILLAN:  We do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  There was a story about that - I don't mean that in a bad way - there is a history to it, right, in which you had a 24/5 control room and you decided you were going to sell control room services.

MR. McMILLAN:  We had a 24-- like a 7 by 24 by 365 control room before the strike, and we had that for a number of years.


And just after the strike, one of the control room operators left and we made a decision to go to a five day,  7 by 24 control room, put an operator on call on the weekend and run that way, and it was very unsatisfactory.

When we looked at that, then some opportunities came up as a result of the way the market -- or the market rules had evolved and the response to the market rules by other utilities, so many of the smaller utilities in Southern Ontario particularly where there was a lot of load growth who had come to need a transformer station decided to build it themselves rather than do the capital contribution thing with Hydro One and let Hydro One own it.


However, as soon as they own a grid-connected facility they require a 7 by 24 contact for the IESO for purpose of controlling the grid.  We thought we could offer those services with our control room.  We brought back a temporary operator and attempted to sell those services.  We weren't very successful.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I don't understand why you didn't go back to 5 by 24 when you realized that you weren't going to be able to recover the incremental costs associated with 7 by 24 by selling the services.

MR. McMILLAN:  As I said before, the 5 by 24 was very unsatisfactory from and operating perspective in our utility.  We don't have or have never had -- pardon me.  Before the control room was there, we did have, but after the control room was established, we did not do trades-administered work protection so there were -- maps were not put in the trucks, the trades were not trained in work protection methodologies, i.e., trades-administered work protection methodologies.  It was all handled through a controlling authority which is the control room.

So on a weekend if there was a large problem or if there was just about any problem that required controlling authority intervention, we had to call an operator out.  It added delays.  It decreased our -- increased our SAIDI, right, didn't affect the SAIFI, the frequency was the same, an outage is an outage is an outage, but it did add time, add costs, very unsatisfactory.

As I recall, there were some conversations also at the joint health and safety committee about the availability of operators and that sort of thing.

So we made the decision to put the operator back in, bring it back into the -- and the cost back into the wires company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your -- so the incremental costs of this is what $100,000 a year something like that?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would say somewhere in that neighbourhood.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it common for utilities of your size to have a 24/7 control room?


MR. McMILLAN:  Some do, some don't.  I think there is fair mix both ways on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It generally depends on whether they own their own transformer station.

MR. McMILLAN:  Somewhat, to some degree, it does depend on that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you own your own yours?

MR. McMILLAN:  We do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are not obligated to have 24/7.

MR. McMILLAN:  We are not obligated to have a 24/7 control room.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I look at that account 5010.  The 2006 board-approved would have been based on 2004, and in 2004 you were operating 24/5?


MR. McMILLAN:  24/7 with an 18-week strike.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why the Board approved it so low.  So when were you operating 24/5?


MR. McMILLAN:  After the strike, so 2007 actual would have been in there, or would it?  I am trying to remember when we hired the...

MS. WHISSELL:  I don't remember.

MR. McMILLAN:  The strike was 2004.  2005 we would have been operating 7 by 24, but I am pretty sure, Mr. Shepherd, that in 2006 we made the decision to bring back the operator.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 2007, you were 5 by 24 --

MR. McMILLAN:  I believe that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then 2007 you came back.

MR. McMILLAN:  Six.


MR. SHEPHERD:  2006, and so --


MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay good.  So let me just --

MR. McMILLAN:  Mr. Shepherd, if I could point out, those costs for that additional operator would have been not in wires, would have been in Plus.  So in 2006 -- I don't want to mislead you.  So in 2006, we went back to a 7 by 24 by 365 operation, but one operator's costs are not here.  They are sitting in Plus company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?

MR. McMILLAN:  Because that's how we structured that return, the idea being that if we went out to market services to other utilities, that would be Plus company.  There would be revenues coming in to offset those costs in Plus company, not in the wires company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when did you transfer those costs into wires company?

MR. McMILLAN:  2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hence the jump from 411 to 499 is that operator who used to be in Plus, you have given up that extra business, but you kept the operator, and now he is in wires company?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let's just look at the subtotal of that section.  This section is the operations section; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I have got it going up almost 30 percent from what you actually spent in 2006 to what you are proposing to spend in 2009, $825,000?

MR. McMILLAN:  Sounds correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just -- and I am not asking you to go through line by line.  I understand there is reasons for a lot of things in the individual lines.  I am asking you to take a step back, as an engineer operating a system, and give the Board a sense of why it makes sense for basically a status quo type of system, a system that is not growing, to have a 30 percent increase in operation costs.

This is not maintenance.  This is operation costs over three years.  Help us out with that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.  Well, I'll go back -- and I know you don't want a line by line, but in a big picture, I have two apprentice linemen that I did not have in 2004 actual, 2006 test that are in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but that's not $825,000.

MR. McMILLAN:  No, but that's 187,000 of it.  We are proposing to increase our capital program significantly in terms of substation maintenance -- okay, related operations is also maintenance.  So substation maintenance, we are proposing to do a lot of work.  And when you do substation maintenance, you take the substation out of service; you switch it out.

Switching is substation operations.  That's what the uniform system account says.  So if you ramp up maintenance in terms of station maintenance and take lots of stations out of service that you didn't take out of service before, you have lots more costs ending up in operation because of the uniform system account and methodology that you are forced to employ there.

Similarly, if you ramp up capital --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you with that, because I guess I would understand that, except that from 2008 to 2009 you are proposing to increase your maintenance by 9.4 percent, but you are proposing to increase your operations by 23.6 percent in that one year.

So that doesn't sound like maintenance is driving operations.

MR. McMILLAN:  It's a component.  You wanted me to take the big picture.  It's a cost that is built up from many components, so that is one of the components.  Is it a huge component?  Probably not a huge component, but it's a component there.

In the same way -- where am I on this list?  So if you were to look at 5016, distribution station equipment, operations, labour, it's up $72,000.  That's part of that number.  That's also -- on the capital side, you have got the same issue.

If you switch a station out to completely refurbish it, completely rebuild it, completely rebuild the breakers, all that switching does not get capitalized.  It ends up here.  That's what the uniform system of the account says, or at least that's our interpretation of what it says.  So there is 72,000.

Overhead lines and feeders, 40,000, that would be the pole testing programs.  5015, we have 188,000 in transformers.  Most of that's related to PCBs and the fact that we want to do 50 PCB-contaminated transformers per year.  The contracted cost to change those out is coming in at around 150,000.  So that's in there.

Underground transformers, that's the same, the same issue.  There is a split between those two.  So underground transformers, there is some PCB units to get rid of there.  Customer... Operations, labour.  That's the most of it, I would suggest to you, Mr. Shepherd.

It sounds kind of -- I understand what you are saying, like, how can switching be -- well, there is a lot of switching to take a station out.  It's probably -- a typical station might be a day to switch out and a day to switch in, or a half-day to switch out, a half-day to switch in.  A 44 kV line could be about the same.  So we have got those kinds of costs in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  That was helpful.  If you could turn to the section "Administrative and General Expenses"?  And I have that one also increasing by about 30 percent, $834,000, over those three years.

While I guess I understand your -- you made quite an impassioned plea yesterday about how your system needs a lot of work, et cetera, and I get that.  But in A&G, a 30 percent increase in A&G doesn't strike me as something that is driven by the fact that your poles are falling down.

So perhaps you can help me with that increase, again, just big picture.  I am trying to get an idea.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In my preamble yesterday, I did speak in general terms about those changes.  What I did identify as the major items was 65,000 for rates, $60,000 in additional ERP maintenance, and 40,000 for an IFRS support individual, and that accounts for the bulk of the change.  The rest is salary, wage --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I am asking about $834,000 over three years, so 150,000 is only a bite-sized chunk.  I'm going from 2006 actual to 2009.  2006 actual is what you actually spent to run the utility in that year; right?

Would it help if I asked about some specific ones?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I think to do an analysis over that many consecutive years that I would have to do it as an undertaking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let me just ask you some high level stuff.  Your management salaries over these three years are going up by about, it looks like, 35 percent.  I am not sure I understand why you need significantly more management in a status quo type of utility.  Help us with that.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Jodie, I am going to ask you to respond to those items.

MS. KOSKI:  I think, first of all - and I think it is included in evidence - there was a Hay management study whereby some of the management employees were -- their jobs were evaluated and there was increases based on that study.  That's one of the identifying factors.

The other that I can think of is the allocation between management salaries and -- and "allocation" is probably not the right word, but where certain positions are, overall it would be reflected correctly, but there may have been a position that was put in management and salaries which later might have been put under --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Something might have gone from executive salaries to management salaries?

MS. KOSKI:  Exactly.  But overall it's the same person.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  The -- one of the ones that sort of strike me here is 5675, maintenance of general plant goes up 50 percent over three years.  That's one of those categories that you don't normally expect to change all that much and so it's a little bit surprising.  Now that's where you put your software support, isn't it?  Support charges.

MS. KOSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So...

MS. WHISSELL:  May I please interject, if you don't mind.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MS. WHISSELL:  Because our record of accounting, our actual system are not exactly matching the OEB chart of accounts, we have had to juggle some numbers here.  If we undertook -- the billing maintenance we moved to the billing category, specifically the CIS system, we may not have moved it there in 2006, I am not positive.

That's why I am saying I would prefer to undertake rather than to guess as to why these numbers are, over a three-year period, increasing the way they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It may be miscategorization is what you are saying?


MS. WHISSELL:  In a different account, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, that's not actually -- I was going to say that is helpful, but I would only be polite; it's not really because I am still confused.  But it will be helpful when you get the clarification, I am sure.

But I guess unless you are moving things from the A&G category to another category, the big increase in A&G still remains unexplained.

MS. WHISSELL:  And I don't have it, yeah ...

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have material in your evidence I am sure we can look at it.  Let me then just ask one more question about that, and this arises out of the technical conference.  In the technical conference, we asked about the ERP maintenance cost and your answer was -- you don't need to turn up the transcript because I think you will recall this -- that although the -- what we said was you got 60,000 as ERP incremental maintenance but what about the money you are saving on the old one which is about 40,000?  And your answer was well, yeah, but the total is 100 and the 60 is just the net; isn't that right?  You remember that?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we asked you to undertake to provide that and you initially gave us -- it's interesting, you gave us two e-mails.  The first -- they are 35 minutes apart.

The first one says:  Oh, yeah, about 100,000 is about right.  The second one says, here is the actual number, $62,000.  So I am still missing that $40,000.  Can you help us?  This is your undertaking from the technical conference.

MS. SEBALJ:  It's Undertaking No. 8 if anyone's looking.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it's Undertaking No. 8.

Madam Chair, if the witnesses need as few minute and if the Board is ready for its break, I am happy to take one at this time.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes I think that would be a good idea.  Let's take a morning break now and we can resume at about 10 past 11, if that's acceptable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:53 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:17 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  All right, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  So we left off with this question of:  What's the actual net amount of the SAP -- or the ERP support?  It looks like it's 62,000, and so we are looking at where the old 40,000 has been backed out.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The first e-mail, if you -- if you look at the content of the body, it says that a good starting point for maintenance services, for systems such as that, is 22 percent of the actual capital cost, so 22 percent times 5,000 is in the range of 100,000 and that's what we used in our preliminary estimates.

There are two components to the maintenance agreement.  There is one set of support that comes from SAP directly, which is the $62,000 charge.  There is the secondary part associated with the integrator, that they provide services, as well, of a maintenance nature.  And that brings the combined balance or need within the year to $100,000, or thereabouts.  That was an estimate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is Wipro?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have provided us with that quote.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, I have not.  I thought it sufficed that somebody within the industry provided 22 percent as a good starting point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The actual standard is 17 percent in the industry, so 22 per cent is quite high.  But, in any case, you have an actual quote here for $62,000, and the question was whether it was 60 or 100.  So you can understand why this would be a little bit misleading, don't you think?

MS. WHISSELL:  Except that the 62 is just the SAP software component, as you indicated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that says that somewhere in here; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  At the bottom, SAP Enterprise software support, ongoing annual fee is priced at 22 percent of net licensing.  So that's seats for users, et cetera.

So, yes, that's my interpretation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have a contract Wipro for the other 40?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We have no contract in place yet.  Those are estimates.  When the system comes on board, since it is not in place, all we are doing is, on a best estimate effort, to establish what the numbers should be for budgetary purposes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What the status of that, by the way, the ERP system?  What's the status?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Once the SAP CIS system is up and running, fully integrated, it's a natural progression.  So London Hydro has gone live.  We are scheduled to go live -- one date is November, but that date is going to be advanced.  I believe that we are going to start in October.  Once the system is up and running, then we move to the second project with the same team, and the ERP program will start.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The ERP project is not actually in your board of directors' approved budget for this year, is it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We discussed that yesterday with Brian, and it is part of the capital plans.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, it is.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The $540,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is in this year's board of directors' approved budget?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you are hoping to have it operational by December?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I am hoping to have it -- within the rate year, to have it operational.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not my question, sorry.  My question is:  It is going to be operational by the end of December?  If you go live on CIS in November, it's almost impossible, isn't it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It will be an extreme stretch.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the support payments you make -- I am actually getting back to OM&A part of this.  The support payments you make for both the 40 and the 62, they don't start until it's operational, do they?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they are actually 2010 costs, aren't they?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In your determination.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are the witness.  Are they going to be paid in calendar 2010 or are they going to be calendar 2009?  What do you think?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In calendar year 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. WHISSELL:  The 40,000 is existing maintenance, so it would be incurred this year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, because you are already paying that.  As a separate item, you are paying 40,000 for the old system?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is still going to be in there, but the new 60 plus the new 40 to replace the old 40 will be next year?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, an expected total of 100,000 will be due next year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me turn to -- you had a short discussion with Mr. Buonaguro yesterday about this head count chart found at SEC 9E.  Do you have that?  It's page 25 of your responses to the March SEC interrogatories; 25.  There you are.  Do you see that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This is -- you talked about this, and in fact although you don't see it on here, there is actually some stuff in yellow that is this progression we talked about of the --

MR. McMILLAN:  The trades.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- apprentices, et cetera, that we talked about at length in the technical conference.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I don't want to go over that ground again.  What I want to do is understand.  This has a bottom-line number of 59 in 2000, and in the rate year, in 2009, to 59.5.  Those -- so first tell me, is this FTEs or is this head count, and, if it's head count, is it year end head count?  Is it average head count?

MR. McMILLAN:  It is not FTEs, I can tell you that for sure.  There is no equivalent for contractors in here.  What it is is individuals that we would actually have on our payroll from time to time throughout a year for operations purposes.

So, for example -- I will give you an example.  The co-op -- PLE apprentice co-op students, we take four co-op students from a Cambrian College program for 16 weeks each, so they are in there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they are in there each as one-third of a person?

MR. McMILLAN:  Actually, they are in there not as one-third.  I am sorry, they are in there in their full numbers.  And I am trying to think if that's true.  I think -- I am sorry, I think have levellized that out to an annual basis.  There is four -- four for 16 weeks, plus four for 16 weeks, and that's not -- and it's shown as 2.5.  So I think I made that adjustment, turned them into full year -- those ones into an FTE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's actually an FTE?

MR. McMILLAN:  That one is, sorry.  But I didn't show you things -- like if we had a line contractor in to do capital work, that's not in here as an FTE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the people in here, like if you have an operator that you expect to add halfway through the year, you have included them as 0.5?

MR. McMILLAN:  I would have, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is calendar year; right?

MR. MCMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's all calendar year?

MR. McMILLAN:  All calendar year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you gave evidence yesterday that you were going from 89 to 99 head count.  I am looking at this, and these are in the fifties.  So help us with that difference.

MR. McMILLAN:  This is just operations and engineering staff.  This doesn't include the rest of the utility in this chart, so there is no customer service staff, no accounting staff, nobody else in this list.

This was my chart to explain what's happening with the apprentices.  That was the real purpose in the -- when you replace people who retire, succession planning.  That's what the purpose of this was, to try to explain what we are trying to do with apprentice, pre-hires and that kind of issue.  That's the only reason.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the question was:  Please provide a table showing FTEs or employee count, if that information is more readily obtainable, by department on a consistent basis for each year from 2000 until 2013.

And this doesn't say, Okay, we are only giving you part -- oh, no, this is only with respect to the distribution electrical system division, so that's not all of wiresco?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is operations and maintenance?


MR. McMILLAN:  This is lines -- yes, operations and maintenance, but from a lines perspective.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I look at TC 4, this OM&A cost table, which of these categories are included in there?

MR. McMILLAN:  TC 4 -- would you like a list?

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, you have people in A&G, those people are not in here; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have people in operations, those people are all in here.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And maintenance, they are all in here?

MS. WHISSELL:  The operations and maintenance component of our OM&A are Brian’s resources, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But billing, collections and community relations, they would not be in here.

And you have got a VP in here.  That VP would actually be in 5605, executive, so that would be in A&G; right?

MS. KOSKI:  That VP is in 5005.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then your executive salaries and expenses doesn't include all your executive salaries and expenses?

MS. KOSKI:  It includes all of them except for the VP of distribution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  So what I would like you to do then, if you could, is -- I mean it sounds like this chart that you have got in 9(e) which is operations and maintenance people, is on an FTE-type of basis but without external people, only people who work for you.

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have counted them on the basis of how long they are there; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, that is what I think I tried --

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not positions, this is people; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Good question.  To be clear, Mr. Shepherd, the line crews, the substation electricians, the engineering project coordinators will also have time out of this, out of their day, costed to capital as well, not just OM&A.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh no, no, understood.  I am not saying you track the people to -- I am talking about these are people that if you looked a the OM&A, their OM&A component equals that --

MR. McMILLAN:  They are component parts of the OM&A, yes.  And to answer your question, I believe these are positions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So some of them are not filled?


MR. McMILLAN:  Some of them are not filled.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I wonder if you could give us an undertaking, please, to provide us with a chart in a similar basis, same year, same approach, that matches your 89 people to 99 people result.  That is, give us the same years but have the whole organization so we have the 89 and 99 and we can see how it breaks out.

MS. WHISSELL:  We did look at a chart yesterday and I don't recall exactly where it was, that had the entire organization and it went from 93 to 103.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, that was in 426, table 3.

MS. WHISSELL:  And the chart that went from 89 to 99, I believe we indicated it did not include casual staff.  So the 93 to 103 that is in our evidence is the one that you would want to refer to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but that's an aggregate set of numbers; right?   It doesn’t tell us where things are happening.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's for the whole organization, is that not what you are asking for?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MS. WHISSELL:  No, you want actual positional breakdown, gotcha.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The same breakdown.  It may be that you have that, in doing that other chart, you actually did this chart.

MS. WHISSELL:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  As part of that same undertaking, can you just add a line at the bottom telling us -- it doesn't need to be for all years, just for the recent years -- how many of those FTEs are unfilled, because this is positions; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Positions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to have some that are unfilled, and you’ll know that.   It will be in your personnel records.

MR. McMILLAN:  I meant to clarify that point.  At year end, you have to pick a time point to decide whether it's vacant or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If this is a positions at year end, then it should be at year end.  If this is a positions averaged during the year, which it sounds like it is because of how you have structured the numbers, then it should be average during the year, consistent.

MS. WHISSELL:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  That's Undertaking J2.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE SIMILAR TO OGRANIZATIONAL CHANGES FOR 2000-2008 IN SEC 9(E)VII AND CONTINUATION TO 2013 COVERING ALL EMPLOYEES AND INCLUDING A LINE FOR VACANCIES

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then while we are on personnel, I wonder if you could turn to -- let me make sure I can find the number here.  At the end of the Board Staff interrogatory responses you have – oh, here it is, Board Staff interrogatory appendix 25(a).  And this is a series of charts that, I guess about seven or eight pages of charts of how your people are structured, right, in the whole organization; is that correct?

MR. REEVES:  I haven't seen it yet.

MS. WHISSELL:  I have Board Staff interrogatory 25(a) and I saw the page but --

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, this is appendix 25.  It's right at the end of -- so do you have that now?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these are your people set up as an org chart; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Plus -- the first page is Greater Sudbury Hydro Inc. and you have actually four positions in there and they are all CDM positions -- actually that's two now; right?

MR. REEVES:  Two full time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you have two part time.

MR. REEVES:  Two temporary employees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next page here Plus, now Plus is the services co.; right?

MR. REEVES:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And basically all the rest of your people are in Plus except for the ones in the numbered companies, in telecom; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you just -- I don't want you to go through all these people, but can you just identify on these charts, and we can start on the first one, the overall org chart, can you just identify the people that have any material activities that is not wiresco, that any part of their job is not wiresco.

MR. REEVES:  Are you talking the Plus company?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have the one that says Board of Directors, President and CEO, so obviously the president and CEO has responsibility for things that is not wiresco; right?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who else?

MR. REEVES:  The executive assistant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. REEVES:  The HR officer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. REEVES:  The risk management officer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. REEVES:  I am going to say all of corporate services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But none of the -- this -- under VP electrical distribution systems, this is Mr. McMillan’s shop, none of those people have any responsibilities for anything outside of wiresco?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, they do?  Or yes, they don't?

MR. REEVES:  Yes, they do.  I will try to recall what they are as I go through.  First of all, the garage is in there someplace, the garage services vehicles for all the companies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. REEVES:  The line men do street lighting work and they do other recoverable work, I guess we would call it, outside of wiresco work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What kind of other recoverable work are you talking about?

MR. McMILLAN:  If in our day-to-day operations we run across a customer who has a single privately-owned secondary pole, for example, because we are Plusco we can offer the service to replace that privately-owned pole for that customer, which is not a wiresco activity.  It is like a contractor activity.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, and so you bill for it?

MR. MCMILLAN:  Yes, definitely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you go there as wiresco to solve a problem, and they have another problem and so your service person puts on their Plus hat and says, We can solve that problem, too?

MR. McMILLAN:  Well, that characterizes a possible situation, but more likely what we say is -- because we don't want the work.  Normally, we don't want it.  We are busy enough doing wiresco work.  We would suggest that the person get a contractor and do that work, but we say that, If you chose, we can do it, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your rates are presumably competitive?

MR. McMILLAN:  Our rates are the exact same rates we charge wiresco.  Plus actually -- outside overhead; correct?  It's actually a little higher than we charge wiresco.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you just charge costs to wiresco; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right, which includes operations overheads, engineering overheads, internal costs, those types of things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The 49 pages of allocations back and forth in your budget, that's the overheads you talking about?  Everything is allocated to where it functionally belongs?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So any of these people in your shop could at some point be involved in stuff for people -- other than wiresco; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Similarly, on the next page, you have the operations department in more detail.  I am not going to go through it in more detail, but any of those people on that could at any given time have something that's not a wiresco responsibility?

MR. McMILLAN:  I'd say that's a fair statement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Some of them it's highly unlikely;  right?  So you have -- like, system operators, for example, it's not going to be really common that they are doing non-wiresco stuff?

MR. McMILLAN:  We still have that single contract with that one utility down south to do their operating.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then in corporate services you have -- this is the next page -- you have -- of course all your customer service reps also do water; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do they do anything else besides water and electric?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We also provide billing services for the rental fleet of hot water tanks, and that's all on the consolidated invoice.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that in Plus or is that in --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The tanks are in one-six in the services company.  We provide a service to that company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then you bill one-six for that on similar terms to what you bill the city for the water billing?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Umm...  It's based on the allocated costs, based on the allocation model that we have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't help me.  Try to be more specific.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  When we prepare a budget, we prepare it on a global basis.  Then there is an allocation schedule.  For instance, 90 percent of all costs for the president are wires company; 10 percent are spread amongst the other companies.  So it's an allocation that way.

I'm the same way.  It was based on a determination of the effort involved, the services provided, going way back when we did the first allocations based on the structure, based on the drivers that existed at that time and our best knowledge of the proportion of the effort that was expended by those individuals servicing those entities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We know you didn't do a study; right?  You used your judgment, and you said at the time, Look, this looks like this is about -- 90/10; is about fair?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, that's one of the things you have been talking about with Mr. Hewson is, Should we be doing a study?  And you said yesterday, We would do it, expect it's expensive?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I think we are a little bit beyond that.  We made a commitment throughout the body of the report that we will be undertaking that initiative.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So these -- the CSRs, then, you have 13 CSRs; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The CSRs are -- they field calls on the bill, and those calls might be about the whole bill, they might be about the water heater, they might be about the water billing, they might be about the electrical, they might be about the transmission charge; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have to -- you deal with all of it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Absolutely.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how much does the water heater company pay for that service?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  When there is a call that relates specifically to water heaters and issues revolving around water heaters, we transfer it back to the one-six company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they have their own CSRs?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Basically, they have customer support agents and they have that role, as well, to support customers' inquiries.

MR. REEVES:  I would like to explain, if I could, Mr. Shepherd, that the structure that you see here on the next pages with the 162 company, which is where all of the competitive employees are, came out of the discussions with Mr. Hewson.

What we did was we took employees that were doing competitive work, only, and we moved them into, if they were unionized, a separate bargaining unit, and if they were management they were all moved into this 162 company.

That was part of the changes that we made to comply with some of his requests -- with one of his requests in the discussions that we had with him.

You know, at the same time, we had a vice president of telecommunications who was also running our IT department and we separated those functions.  The position of vice president of competitive services came to be, and we went to the union, negotiated a separate bargaining unit for the competitive side.

These were all in response to Mr. Hewson's request.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked at the chart for the 162 number - that's where the water heaters are - and I didn't see any CSRs there, but I suppose their retail business rep is, in effect, a CSR?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So how many water heaters do you have?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  There is 7,000 in the fleet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- okay.  So there is no actual fee, then, paid by the one-six number to Plus for the services for the billing and collection services that you undertake.  What there is is an allocation to them of costs?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What's that allocation?  How much is it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  In the financial statements that you alluded to yesterday that I provided to you under confidence, I gave you the income statements for the competitive entities, and that line is -- it is delineated on there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have that.  For the 162 number I have that.  It's right after that, and it says contract work $4.5 million.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, are these confidential documents part of this record or...

MR. SHEPHERD:  They were not filed in confidence.  They are stamped "confidential", but they weren't filed in confidence.

MS. NOWINA:  Does the company understand that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This was a response to interrogatories, and it was sent to everybody and published, put on the website.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I understand it was it submitted in the spring as part of the interrogatory responses, and this actually relates to our discussion yesterday about the undertaking about the updated financial statements, the 2008 financials, and a question about whether there will be confidentiality requested in respect of the financials for some of -- for the 162 and other competitive companies in the group.

MS. NOWINA:  Is it like the horse has left the barn on these ones?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It has on these but it doesn't necessarily have to on the updated ones.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you can just turn to 162, 2007 financials, I can't figure out where you are paying for --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  On Board Exhibit 25, on that particular income statement for the 167 company, the full amount of general administration 78,698 is the value of the allocated services to that company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's all allocated services or just billing collection?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what's this $4.5 million or $4.6 million of contract work that comes in and out, both sides?

MS. WHISSELL:  The 162 company is one of the competitive service companies as is our telecommunications company.  Telecommunications has no employees --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it operates like Plus for the telecom company --

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, and the –

MR. REEVES:  For any of our competitive businesses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So also for landfill gas as well.

So if we want to understand this in the context of the water heater business, we can just take out that 4.6 million going in and out, that's not really related to water heater business, and what's left over is the water heater business?


MR. REEVES:  Water heater business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you are paying for billing 7,000 customers is -- and for -- your people do the installations too?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The installations are contracted out to a third party.

MS. WHISSELL:  In the 162 company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's what this competitive service rentals is?  277, that's your cost of goods sold, in effect?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's the maintenance cost.  Installation is capitalized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So any way, the point is so you bill 7,000 monthly; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you pay $78,000 for it, and what else do you get besides the billing and collection for that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Nothing.  Like I said, all the interaction with the customer is referred directly to the staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now the landfill gas company, the one-seven company, that's a couple of pages on, you sunk a well in the town dump, in effect?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, we did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's vernacular, what can I say, that's what you did.  So this is the one where you took 400,000 of your CDM money --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- in your third tranche money --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- in wiresco, and you invested in preferred shares, and that qualified as CDM expense?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, it did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now those preferred shares have been paid back or not?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, they have not.

MR. REEVES:  Could I have just a point of clarification.  We didn't install a gas collection system, that's the city's.  They are required to collect the methane and at least flare it off in landfill sites over a certain size.  So the entire collection system was installed by the city and they had a flaring station there, and what the 172 company did was use that gas to  generate --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Put a turbine on it, turbine or reciprocating engine?


MR. REEVES:  Reciprocating engine.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, enough of that.  I have just a couple of questions on CDM.

MS. SPOEL:  Is CDM on the issues list?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is an amount in OM&A for CDM.  And I just wanted to clarify that if I understand correctly, you have 187,000 and change in OM&A, but you have -- and that's the costs of these two full time people and part time people in wiresco. to do OPA projects, and you have a contract with OPA to do that and it's an offset in your budget.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have, in addition, a rate rider in place right now approved by this Board for programs that you're doing that those people are in Plus; right?  Where are those people?

MR. REEVES:  It's the same CDM personnel for doing those OEB-approved projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well -- so the 187 is not their total cost?

MS. WHISSELL:  In essence, during our budgeting process, the 187 is really to the most extent the two full-time people.  We have reflected a revenue offset to the extent that we are doing CDM on a recovery basis.  We have a CDM additional rate rider. There are also OPA programs that we are participating in, and to the extent that we collect CDM for OPA monies we will have offsetting expenditures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so help me with this.  How much is the rate rider annually?

MR. REEVES:  Approximately 2.1 million over three years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2.1 million over three years, so let's say 700,000 this year.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's fair.

MR. REEVES:  We start collecting -- the rate rider went into place on May the 1st.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are collecting that 700,000, and where are the expenses associated with that?

MS. WHISSELL:  They would be on the balance sheet not hitting a bottom line.  It would be -- well, it would either be a deferral account where we have the revenue on the balance sheet and the expenses on the balance sheet, or it could be under energy conservation and then an offset revenue.  But the ultimate net effect is nil.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in energy conservation you have 187,000 so that's not 700, right, and that 187,000 is already offset with something else; right?

So I am looking for the offset to the 700,000.  The ratepayers are giving you 700,000 a year for CDM.  How are you spending it?  Where is it on your application?

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't think how they are spending their CDM money is actually part of this proceeding.  I mean I am not trying to cut off willy-nilly, but let's stick to the issues list so we can get on with it.

I don't think the account -- how they are spending the money is a matter for this hearing.  That's another matter for another day.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am concerned with, Madam Chair, is they are collecting this money for a specific thing.  We have the costs of all their people, they are applying for in rates in this proceeding, so presumably those are the people who are doing that $700,000 worth of work.  We can't pay for it again, we have already paid for it once.

MS. SPOEL:  I think the evidence is there is already an offset with the people involved, it's already been offset.  Presumably there are some other costs in CDM that don’t necessarily go to people.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I haven’t heard that yet, that’s why I’m asking.

MS. SPOEL:   I don't think that’s an inquiry for this proceeding.

MS. WHISSELL:  But I do believe I stated there is no money in our rates for CDM because even though we have reflected 187,000 as an expense, there is a revenue offset so the net to the revenue requirement is zero.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no problem with that, Madam Chair.  My concern is that they have given this Board their full budget, what they are planning to spend this year on everything, and in fact they have given us what their board of directors approved, which is even less.  And so they are collecting, in addition to what they are asking this Board to order, they are collecting $700,000 a year from the ratepayers.  They must be spending that on something.  I am looking for where is it in their budget.


MS. NOWINA:  Is your concern, Mr. Shepherd, that there is a possibility of double dipping, that they are asking for it in rates, and they are already receiving funding through the act?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not suggesting they are doing it intentionally, but it may be accidentally.

MS. NOWINA:  No, but that’s the question that you’re trying to uncover?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That’s right.

MS. WHISSELL:  I would say the answer is no.

MR. REEVES:  No, the CDM employees aren't in our rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you gave us the details on all of your -- your entire budget; right?  Where are those people?  It's not the people in wiresco; right?  We heard those are the 187,000.  That's offset already.

MR. REEVES:  No, no, that's the same people that are running those projects.

MS. WHISSELL:  Most of the costs would be contract, based on the OPA programs, and what I am seeing, you have an administrative component, but the costs would be collected in rates.  And the additional costs that we would incur for the CDM rider and the OPA programs are extensively contracted out costs, and we have note reflected the CDM rider revenue nor the expense in the budget acknowledged.

But, overall, there is no recovery for anything that people are working on on OPA or CDM rider or even CDM.  The impact on our rates is --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I make a suggestion, Madam Chair?  I understand what the witness is saying and I think it probably is relatively easily clarified.  The company has filed the budget that your board of directors approved to spend money this year.  Can you identify where in that budget the money is spent on these CDM programs that are funded by the rider?

MS. SPOEL:  As I understood, Mr. Shepherd, their evidence was it is not in that budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If it's not, that is good.  Then the problem is solved.

MS. SPOEL:  That's what we were just told, but perhaps we could clarify that.  If it's not in the budget, then that's the answer.

MR. REEVES:  It is not in the budget.

MS. WHISSELL:  It is not.

MS. KOSKI:  I believe with the CDM -- if I may, I believe with the CDM rate approval, there is a listing of the projects that are associated with the CDM program, and they are not included in this budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sorry, I am just looking for a particular chart.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, I think you have to accept that's how the proceedings work at the Board.  There is a separate approval for how they spend the CDM, how it applies for the rate rider for the approval for the amounts.  They get a specific list of programs that are approved, and they spend the money on those programs and it is not part of their regular rate proceedings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I agree 100 percent.  I am not concerned about that at all.  What I am concerned about is to make sure that is it not in what is being requested here.  It's not enough for the witnesses to just say it's not in there.  I think as a cross-examiner, I am entitled to pursue to see where it is somewhere else, because we know what they are spending in total.

And so -- unless they are not spending that money.  That would be a different story, but if they are spending it, it must be in their financial statements somewhere.  It must be in their budget somewhere.

MS. SPOEL:  I think the rate rider only started on May 1st of this year, and therefore it wouldn't be in the financial statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It would be in their 2009 budget, which is approved by their board of directors.

MS. SPOEL:  I don't think so.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, didn't they just say it was not?

MS. SPOEL:  It is not in that budget.  They have just given you that evidence.

MS. SPOEL:  If you have a budget line, Mr. Shepherd, that you can show that relates to CDM beyond the offsetting amounts that is the two employees just referred to, then you can bring that up, but, otherwise, I think you have to accept the answer that you have been given by these witnesses.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think I have actually found my answer.  I wonder if you could -- we talked about this chart, which is the OM&A summary for the budget year 2009 approved by your board.  It's the one that totals twenty-one-two-ten.

MS. NOWINA:  What's the reference, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's actually about page 150 into an unnumbered set of pages.

MS. NOWINA:  We marked -- I have a yellow sticky, so it's interrogatory response?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it is in -- what was the number, originally?  9C.

MS. NOWINA:  Whose interrogatory?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think Mr. Buonaguro has wisely found it.

MS. KOSKI:  I can answer that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Let me ask the question first.

MS. KOSKI:  I can answer to the previous question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I found it.  I get to ask the question.  So K here, non-utility expenses, is actually the CDM in your OM&A budget of 187 that has the offset; right?

The CDM up at the top, the six-o-nine, is that the amount you collect in the rate rider, because when we matched this to your budget, we had to deduct that amount?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.  You had to take the 609 and subtract the difference between that and the 187...

I apologize.  You would have to deduct the 609,000 and add back only the 187.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the result is that 609 is separately funded by the rate raider; is that right?

MR. REEVES:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  All right, I am almost finished here.  I wonder if you could turn to -- I just have a couple of questions on personnel, and then I am pretty well done.

I wonder if you could turn to VECC IR 18, sub C, which I think is in the first section, the March ones, and it's pages 29 and 30 of those responses.

You see -- at the bottom here, you see there is a discussion about what happens if you have delays in hiring of your new people.  Do you see that?  And your answer on the next page -- and then it actually refers to a couple of people.  It says basically 60 percent of these people are capitalized.  So your impact on OM&A is going to be less; right?

Okay, and I guess if the -- I have two questions about that.  First of all, if the capital program is cut back, if this Board approves the 9 million, for example, that you got from your board of directors instead of the 10.8 that you asked this Board, then do you still need those people?

MR. McMILLAN:  We would offset contractors with these people, yes.  We could still use them on the capital side.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would still hire them --

MR. MCMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- but you would have less costs for contractors to get to that end result?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the first one.

The second one is these people are 60 percent capitalized, but your average capitalization is more like 15 percent; right?  If you look at how much of your labour costs are capitalized, it's actually 12 percent of your capital; right?

MR. McMILLAN:  Over the whole corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We saw it.  Remember you did the chart the other day where you had your total capital -- your total labour, and then how much was capitalized, 1 million last year, 871,000 this year?

MR. McMILLAN:  In the line crews and the substation crews, if you looked at their 20/80 hours per year, it would be split roughly 60/40 capital and OM&A, roughly.  And, overall, it may add up to 15 percent capitalization across the company, but in that group there is a substantial capitalization component.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that 871,000 of capitalized labour you are forecasting for this year - I think I remember the number right, it's around that - that's going to be virtually all your power line people?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then last -- I think last, yes, last, I wonder if you can turn to K1.2, that's the letter that you sent, Mr. Pawlowicz.  This is the one that you talked about, one of the things you talked about was the OM&A budget and what you presented to the Board; do you recall that?  Do you have that letter?  I am looking actually at page 3 of that letter.  Do you have that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Buonaguro has that.  You see here that it says:
"Our sensitivity analysis for GSHI’s Board of Directors considered various scenarios for timing of approved rates.  What was ultimately tabled with our board was the conservative assumption that rates would be effective July 1st, 2009."

So what you assumed is you have your new rates for half of calendar 2009; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you put to your board of directors the various scenarios?  Could be this, could be this, could be this, give them a chart, show a sensitivity analysis?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, they were not presented to the board in that fashion.  The discussion was verbal as to how we arrived at our position with respect to selecting the July date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you said to your board of directors is:  Here's the budget for calendar 2009 that -- on the assumption that we will get our new rates and it won't be all of our new rates but some of our new rates, some of what we asked for in our new rates starting July 1st, so we then tracked that number, got that total revenue, we said, okay, now here's how we are going to spend it in 2009?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We did the calculation of the revenue at the old rates and the new rates for the relevant periods and came up with a total revenue number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, sorry, let me just back up a stage.

Tell me if this is correct.  You said, okay, let's assume for the period to June 30th we have our old rates.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then from the period from July 1st to December 31st, we have new rates, but it won’t be everything we asked for, you had some assumption about what you would get, right, and I am not going to ask you what that was.  And you got a total revenue expected for that period; right?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You totalled those two and got the revenue for the year.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said, board of directors, here's our budget for the year on the assumption that that's our revenue.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so what the board approved, the board of directors approved was an OM&A budget and a capital budget that would result in an appropriate rate of return or appropriate interest payments if you got the revenue that you assumed you were going to get?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We did not get the full rate of return, okay.  There was some amount of positive net income that was forecast in that particular budget.  So the interest costs must be met, as I stipulated yesterday, and then we did not want to present a loss budget in the year.  So it was basically I will call it a break even, but there was a slight amount of net income that was projected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in your 2007 board of directors-approved budget you were authorized to spend $18,681,004 -- you don't need to turn this up, trust me these are your numbers.  In 2008, your board approved 19,376,914 which is a 3.73 percent rate increase; does that sound about right to you?  Sorry, 3.73 percent budget increase; does that sound about right to you?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What they approved for 2009 was 21,210,834 which is a 9.46 percent increase.  If I know boards of directors, they ask about that.  Did they ask about that size of that budget increase and were they concerned about it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, they did.  As I explained in the technical conference, our board goes through line by line on the same schedules that were presented as our exhibits, and we do a line-by-line review with the appropriate personnel addressing any questions the board may have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This would be a line-by-line on the budget the board of directors approved?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the 45 pages, they actually go through line-by-line.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does this make sense?  Does this make sense?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Were they also concerned, or was there also a discussion about the overall level of budget increase, the 9.46 percent?  Was that concern raised and was it discussed?

MR. REEVES:  Of course we had already had previous discussions with our board back in the fall, extensive discussions about the rate increase we were applying to the board for, so they knew why we wanted that rate increase as we have gone through here extensively, and they knew there would be impact on rates of that requested increase from the OEB.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that's good, but I was --

MR. REEVES:  So when we brought them this budget we simply explained our assumptions and the revenue that we anticipated getting for the year and they had, of course, no difficulty in accepting that because what we were applying for from the board was that revenue for a full year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I appreciate that, and it's good that they were concerned about the rate increase.  But I guess what I am asking about, rather, is a board of directors will normally ask management, Why do you want to spend so much more money?  This seems like a lot of extra budget.  Forget how you are going to get it from the customers, just how much more do you want to spend? Have you controlled it enough?  And a 9.46 percent increase would be the sort of thing that a board of directors would ask about; did they ask about that?

MR. REEVES:  As I said I think we had had that extensive discussion in the fall when we talked about our OEB application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have no further questions, thank you very much.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

Ms. Sebalj, how long do you think you will likely be?

MS. SEBALJ:  At least half an hour, possibly 45 minutes.  I am happy to start if that makes sense or I am in your hands.

MS. SPOEL:  I think we might as well have our lunch break now and we will resume in an hour, quarter past 1:00.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Madam Chair, so the Board knows in terms of scheduling the rest of the day, I will have some redirect examination.  I am anticipating having some, 10 to 15 minutes.

MS. SPOEL:  There is one more witness panel.  Do we have any -- do you have any notion, Mr. Buonaguro or Mr. Shepherd, of how long you likely to be?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Buonaguro is leading on that panel and we did discuss how long it's likely to take and we have estimated that we will be likely to finish today, but it will be close.

MS. SPOEL:  Is it all right, we would obviously much rather finish today than to have to come back on Monday.  Is it all right if we sit a little bit beyond 4:30 or 5:00 so we can finish up?  I think we will try to get through it today.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:18 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 1:21 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, Ms. Sebalj.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:

MS. SEBALJ:  Good afternoon, panel.  I am going to take you first to technical conference Undertaking No. 10, which Mr. Shepherd discussed at some length this morning.  That's the agreement between Hydro Plus and the city for water billing services.

And, really, my question relates to something that was referenced this morning, but I just want it to be clear.  The term of the agreement is, from a corporate lawyer's perspective, a bit ambiguous, in that it seems to automatically renew.  But the only termination provision that I can see that applies to Hydro Plus is the two-year one we referred to this morning, which is clause 12.03, and that is that the utility or the city may give two years' notice to the other and terminate this agreement without cause.

I am just wondering, am I correct -- first, did I miss anything in the contract?  Does the utility have any other out of this contract in terms of a termination as opposed to a dispute or something like that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  This is the only document that we have in our possession that references that subject.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I am wondering whether the Plus company has ever given consideration to terminating the contract?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, we have not.  We felt that there was a significant contribution that was being made.  As I have explained in previous testimony, the arrangement was working well.  There was a benefit to the ratepayers.  And, no, we never, never entertained those thoughts.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I thought -- I thought I heard you say this morning, but you can correct me if I am wrong, that the original costs or fees -- yes, fees of $630,444, which were then increased for CPI, as well as the adjustments we talked about for meter reading, are those -- those are not reflective -- that's a fee that's in the contract that was negotiated, presumably, and has very little to do with the underlying costs; is that correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  And the underlying costs are increasing; is that correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, they are.

MS. SEBALJ:  I guess I am wondering why you wouldn't consider terminating renegotiating the contract so the costs are actually reflective of what the costs to Hydro Plus are to provide this service?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Without repeating my testimony of yesterday, the changes that were required that are driving the cost increases are attributed to a need to satisfy the electrical distribution system, okay?  Advanced got out of the deregulated Ontario market with the CIS system.

The water is a tag-along, really.  We just don't have the mechanisms to share those kinds of burdens, because they were never anticipated when we entered into this arrangement.  I said yesterday, the Advanced system was brand spanking new.

We were implementing it at the time of these contracts.  We -- and our full intentions with the commitments that were made when the system was sold to us, you know, we are here forever, and the system, as I said yesterday, works extremely well.

It is just unfortunate that through their reorganization, a company of Constellation purchased Advanced.  They are the owners of the Harris billing system.  Harris has an Ontario module.  Advanced had an Ontario module.

With regulatory changes, at the pace that they were being initiated, it wasn't cost effective or efficient for them to maintain the two systems.  So they called us in on December 5th, I believe, just before Christmas, and said, You have a one-year period within which we no longer support your billing system.

And it was as cut and dry as that.  So we were left in a scramble position.  So we created the CODAC group immediately as a viable alternative to pursue a state-of-the-art system that will meet our needs, hopefully, for a much longer period than our experience of the last.

MS. SEBALJ:  You have referred a couple of times to the complexity of the deregulated electricity system and that driving, at least in part, your need for this state-of-the-art system, as you call it.

What is it exactly about the deregulated electricity system that drives this need?

MS. WHISSELL:  When we did go to the market, there was -- there were limited companies that could handle the deregulated electricity market the complexities are such there's a wholesale and retail settlement time of use billing, interfacing with the AMI and the MDMR as we go forward, things of that nature.

MS. SEBALJ:  Is -- and you don't -- obviously I don't want to know company names, but is SAP the only company or are there other companies?

MS. WHISSELL:  We did -- as a CODAC group, there were, I believe, either eight or nine or so other participating utilities at the time and --

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, nine participating -- nine bidders or utilities?

MS. WHISSELL:  No, nine LDCs, and there were only three or four corporations that we could consider because of the Ontario electricity market.  And after our evaluation, it was deemed that the SAP system would be the most suitable on a go-forward basis, and that's how we arrived at this RFP.

MS. SEBALJ:  You are going to have to forgive me here, because I might be missing something.  I really mean that.  There might be something in the evidence that I am missing, but we spent a lot of time this morning talking about the relationship between what I am going to call the Plus company, for clarity, and the city, and that's this agreement that we just referred to.

The problem I am having is I think we thoroughly canvassed that, and we have some undertakings that I think will give us a better idea of how that billing works.  My question has to do with, because we are here for the wires company, what the impacts are on the wires company.

So Plus bills the city.  Does Plus also bill wiresco, or that's a flow-through?  Does wiresco just absorb whatever is not otherwise billed to the city or to -- I guess there is also some billing that's done to the one-six company for water?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, that's exactly correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  So it's just the difference?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, the residual amount.

MS. SEBALJ:  And, again, I am going to go over a little bit of ground here just because there has been some confusing testimony.  I think we established yesterday that the billing software is -- Hydro currently owns its billing software.  It is planning at the end of this year to change that billing software, but let's start with this:  Hydro currently owns the licence for the billing software that is in place now; is that correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The Advanced system is an asset of the Plus company.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that's the present system that --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That we are using, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  -- power and water and water heaters are being billed on?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Does the Plus system -- so that was entirely paid for by Plus?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  The capital cost of that system?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  And was it allocated to anyone else?  Any of the other companies?

MS. SPOEL:  It seems to me that this should be a fairly simple question.  Either costs were allocated or they weren't.  I am wondering why it's -- I guess it raises some questions in our minds as to how complicated all this structure is.

MS. WHISSELL:  We had legacy system, and when we restructured I believe that system was in our Plus company.  As a result of the initial round of deregulation, when we went to the CIS infinity system and its recollection as to where we had put it because initially software was in another company, it became a transition asset.  It was an asset and a contra-asset and it was recovered through a rate rider in the wires company.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MS. WHISSELL:  Because it was a deregulation cost.

MS. SEBALJ:  Was that rate rider requested and approved by this Board?  It would have had to have been, but I am just wondering.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, it was.

MS. NOWINA:  These were the costs due to transition to the deregulated market that we are talking about --

MS. WHISSEL:  That's correct.

MS. NOWINA:  -- that everyone applied for.  So these are the regulatory asset accounts.

And was that the new system or a legacy system?  Was that the Advanced system?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  The system you now have.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. NOWINA:  The system you now have?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  I didn't expect that to be that complicated either.

So what we have heard is you are making the switch sometime later this year or early 2010 to the new system, and that system will be owned by -- the software will be owned by Hydro and the operations -- the hardware will be owned by London Hydro and the operations will be conducted by the Plus company.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I just go back a couple of steps, and this is where I am going to be embarrassed if you tell me it's on the record because I can't find it, but is there a service level agreement between Hydro and Plus?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, there is.

MS. SEBALJ:  And it's on the record somewhere?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, there is.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you point me to it, sorry.  I thought I had seen it but I haven't been able to find it today for some reason.

Is it in an IR or as part of the application?  I am told by Mr. Clark that it is in Exhibit 424, appendix A.

There it is.  And so without spending too much time on the record, this agreement will obviously set out the terms and conditions for the provision of services by Plus to Hydro, and it also sets out the fees and payments; is that correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, it does.  As I had mentioned in previous testimony, all costs are transferred on an actual basis without mark-up.  There is a service component fee that is part of that service level agreement.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that's the base fee of $3,500 a month exclusive of GST that we see in clause Roman numeral 4.1?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MS. SEBALJ:  And everything else is done on a cost --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Allocated basis.

MS. NOWINA:  Can I ask where the clause is that says everything else is done on allocated basis?  What clause is that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Schedule B that's appended is the allocation schedule that we are following.

MS. NOWINA:  Appendix B to this document -- schedule B.

Yes, so can you tell me the clause that says that that's what's going to be used?  I think I have found it, it's 4.2(c).  Well, that talks about the initial allocation.  Is that it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's still in force.  I have stated that in previous testimony that we did not refresh the allocation schedule so everything continued.

MS. NOWINA:  Okay, thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  And the basis for setting schedule B was that just a negotiation or was there any --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, there was a computation of the various drivers for the various components plus the experience of the individuals, of time-motion studies, space studies, and basically an interpretation of the effort by speaking to the individuals involved.  So that would be the general question of how many hours do you spend in a week on activities for such and such?

MS. SEBALJ:  So I guess my question would be at the time that this was performed, obviously you went to some time and effort to come up with this schedule.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Did you ever consider doing a shared services cost allocation study at that point?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's been an item that's been on our agendas for a long time.  Other pressures have diverted our attentions.

We are a small utility.  There is a small core group that could attend to these items.  We had various discussions on an ongoing basis over the years to determine whether or not those allocation factors are still adequate, and the consensus decision was that they were in the relevant range at each of those.  And those discussions would take place at budget time when we prepare the major allocation schedule for planning purposes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So that takes me actually to the next area that I wanted to talk about, which is I think this morning we heard definitively, but I just want to confirm, that Greater Sudbury Hydro has committed to doing a study of its affiliate service costs and the cost allocation associated with that; is that correct?

MR. PAWLOWOCIZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And have you done any preliminary work in that respect?  Other than having made that decision, has anything more been done to that end?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We have tried to secure third parties.  I have been in discussions as to who could attend to such a project, since we don't want to have any internal influences or biases.  We want an independent third party to do that review.  So we have done that.

We have secured some numbers that are difficult for us to absorb within the current revenue structure that we have in place.  But we have clearly recognized, with all of the activities with the compliance office and -- that they would have to be addressed in some particular fashion, and I think that Doug gave testimony yesterday at the end of the day with respect to those activities.

MS. SEBALJ:  So when you say you have secured -- basically you have secured quotes for doing the study?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  From more than one party?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  They weren't quotes in the formal sense.  I have not gone out to an RFP.  Our auditors are three audit firms, KPMG, FCR and Collins Barrow.  I have spoken to partners of each of those firms, what their capabilities were to attend to something of that nature.

MS. SEBALJ:  Do you need board of directors approval to conduct that study?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We operate on the basis that everything goes through our board of directors.

MS. SEBALJ:  Have you included monies in this rate case for conducting that study?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It was an item that we specifically brought up, I think, in the technical sessions.  It would be one of those reallocations depending on what financial resources are, what we could defer to undertake that particular project.

MS. SEBALJ:  Would you be in a position to provide the Board with some indication of the costs associated with that study?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We could certainly undertake that.  Would a letter be sufficient from the parties that I spoke to?  And such letter would be dated today or tomorrow, or whatever it is that I contacted them.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am just concerned that, you know, should this Board decide that this study needs to be conducted, it will also probably want to make sure that the revenue requirement can cover that --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  The range is in around $100,000.

MS. SEBALJ:  Have you considered, when you approached the parties with respect to this study, have you talked to them about the scope of the study, because we have at least two major issues that would have to be addressed in the study, I think?  One of them is the shared services aspect, and the other is corporate cost allocation.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  One of the parties is our external auditor.  We certainly have those kinds of discussions with them.  With the other firms, it was much more general than that.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can I ask you to do two things, maybe, as part of one undertaking?  It would be to provide, to the best of your ability, considering what the sort of preliminary work that you've done to scope this out, an estimate of the cost of conducting the study?

And the second would be, from Hydro's perspective, what the scope of the study would contain?  So should you go out with an RFP, what would you be asking the third party to conduct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, absolutely.

MS. SEBALJ:  I will mark that as undertaking 2.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  To provide estimate of the cost of conducting study, and scope of study.

MS. SEBALJ:  We have talked about a number of changes that Hydro has made to its organization in response to the various discussions that you have had with the compliance office regarding ARC, and I am wondering if any other changes are planned to be made, from an organizational perspective, in the future?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, a change that I would anticipate that impacts directly on these discussions, we will clearly report back the significance of these issues, and we have already, to our board of directors.  I would imagine those discussions would be reactivated, and my feeling is that when we go to the city, they are going to terminate the contract in its entirety with us if there is going to be a significant increase in costs.

So that might have some changes that I am not privy to at the moment, but the board of directors would be making those assessments.

MS. SEBALJ:  And what would the repercussions of that be?  So the contract is terminated.  My best guess, based on the testimony you have given, is that essentially that would mean that the economies of scale are lost in terms of postage and administration, and the fee is no longer charged.

Is there any other -- is there anything else that you see as a repercussion from the termination of that contract?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Well, there is the human resource aspect, clearly, that you alluded to.  I think that pretty much summarizes it.  We would lose the contribution.  Our costs would increase, as I stipulated yesterday, since now all of those services of those individuals, you wouldn't be getting the contribution that they are currently receiving.

Our fully allocated costs of billing are going up to almost $3 million from 2.5 in the wires company.

MR. REEVES:  I think, as well, if I could add to that, depending on the outcome of the transfer pricing study, we could -- I mean, one of the options we would have to consider is what company the employees ought to be in, you know, because if there is a transfer pricing issue, I explained yesterday the impact of our collective agreement, where we actually would have to pay these employees -- if the transfer pricing said we are paying too much for billing, the collective agreement says that we have to employ those employees, anyways.

We have -- we can contract out all we want, as long as we don't lay off employees.  So we have contracted out things like meter reading in the past through attrition.  We used to have in-house meter readers.  Through an attrition process, we now contract out meter reading, and we have looked at the cost of the various services within the utility and said, you know, Which ones belong inside and which ones are more favourable to contract out?

MS. SEBALJ:  Right.


MR. REEVES:  I'm using meter reading as an example.  Over a period of time we shifted meter readers here and there.  Some retired, and we ended up contracting out meter readers.

So all I am saying is that if the transfer pricing study showed that the cost of billing was too high, then one of our options is to move those employees back into wiresco.

MS. SEBALJ:  Which essentially gets back to what I am trying to get at here.  It is difficult to tease out pure compliance issues that may still remain, the transfer pricing, which I know, in and of itself, is a compliance issue, but there may be alternatives here.

And so scoping the study appropriately might be the key here, so that --

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  I don't think we want to end up with a study that says, purely, you know, the transfer pricing should be X if a year later the decision is made that those employees shouldn't be there in the first place, and then a new study needs to be done.


So I guess what I am trying to get at is the undertaking 2.6 is part -- that the scoping exercise for this study I think might  be more extensive than just purely tell us how we should allocate our costs.  Anyway, that was in the nature of a submission.  I will get back to questions now.

Back to the billing system.  The response to VECC IR No. 7 provides the capital and operating costs of the CIS and ERP systems, and that is -- it's a table under VECC IR No. 7 question B.

And my question is relatively simple, actually.  You have set out there both the CIS and ERP capital and OM&A breakdown.  I think we heard this morning that the system may go live as early as October of this year.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Presumably that means that there are some OM&A savings during the IRM period as a result of the go-live date being as late as October?  In other words, are these -- are these the accurate numbers?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I believe that they are accurate in the sense that we are going through extensive training.  A lot of the OM&A charges would be associated with relief staff to keep the system operating as we take people through the training regime for the CIS system.

MS. SEBALJ:  And how long is it anticipated that it will take to get -- so go live is basically -- give me a, I am not a software expert.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Those processes are going to start in detail by mid-August of this year.  We are in the vacation schedule period now, so as soon as we get our regular complement of staff returning off vacation, the training regime starts working towards that date which, as I said, was set at November but we are working towards something closer to October.

MS. SEBALJ:  So your answer to me then is that there are no OM&A savings to be reaped as a result of the go-live date?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That would be my answer, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  I want to talk a little bit about the allocation of the $2.1 million for the CIS system, and in particular I'd like to make you and the panel aware of a decision that the Board made in July the - well, in this month of this year in the -- it's the Tillsonburg rate case.

I have here for the panel, I just didn't want to kill too many trees, but I have for the panel copies of the entire decision, and I have excerpts for the rest of us, if that's okay.

MS. SPOEL:  Ms. Sebalj, do you want to give us an exhibit number?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, excellent point.  It will be Exhibit K2.1.  For the record, K2.1 is a decision of the Ontario Energy Board, docket number EB-2008-0246 dated July 10th, 2009, and it's the Tillsonburg Hydro Inc. rate decision.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  JULY 10, 2009 RATE DECISION, EB-2008-0246 RE:  TILLSONBURG HYDRO INC.


MS. SEBALJ:  I am putting it on the record simply for purposes of potential reference to argument later, but I also do have a couple of questions.

The specific reference in the decision that I wanted to take you to is at page 24 of the decision.

So page 24 of the decision sets out the underlying facts which -- the reason that I am bringing this up is that they are quite similar to the case that we are presently looking at.

So just for purposes of the record the first paragraph reads:
"Included in THI's budget are certain costs for replacing the existing CIS with the new CIS as the existing system will no longer be supported by its vendor.  The assets will not be in rate base as they will be owned by the town.  The costs charged by the town include recovery of the total capital cost of the new CIS.  The town will charge the total cost to THI over a four-year period, and will allocate 71.7 percent of the ongoing support costs to THI on the rationale that although the same number of bills are issued for electricity as for water and sewer, the higher allocation to electricity reflects the additional complexity in calculating -- sorry, it's probably an error in the decision, but it should -- it reads in calculation the electricity bill."

Ultimately, submissions were made and the Board in this case -- Sorry, I should be clear that Tillsonburg was arguing that they should get 100 percent recovery of the capital costs of the new CIS, and ultimately the Board determined that an allocation, basically a sharing of the capital cost to 71.7 percent share of the capital cost to Tillsonburg and a -- the remaining to the town.

The reason I raise this is that basically we wanted to put this to Hydro and to ask whether Hydro would consider a similar methodology for allocating.  And I wanted to also ask whether Hydro would be prepared to provide an undertaking whereby it would go through a similar allocation exercise to provide to this Board as an alternate basis for rate basing the CIS costs.

MR. REEVES:  Certainly we can commit to looking at that arrangement and determining what the costs would be.

MS. SEBALJ:  I was just consulting to make sure that I shouldn't be giving you any assumptions to use in order to make this calculation.

So I am going to mark it as Undertaking 2.7, which is for Hydro to use the Tillsonburg decision and the terms that were decided upon in that decision to provide an alternate basis for allocating the capital costs of the CIS system.
UNDERTAKING 2.7: HYDRO TO USE THE TILLSONBURG DECISION AND THE TERMS THAT WERE DECIDED UPON IN THAT DECISION TO PROVIDE AN ALTERNATE BASIS FOR ALLOCATING THE CAPITAL COSTS OF THE CIS SYSTEM

MR. REEVES:  Now, before we could bring that back as a commitment, we would have to bring that to our board.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am not sure -- I mean, this is just a -- at the moment it's a hypothetical exercise being brought by Board Staff.

MR. REEVES:  That's fine, that's fine.

MS. SEBALJ:  Again, we are not the decision makers.  What we are trying to do here is provide a record on the basis that a decision could be made, but it's not conclusive in any way, shape or form.

MS. SPOEL:  Obviously everybody will have an opportunity in their argument to address the appropriateness or otherwise of doing that, and if it's appropriate to do some other kind of allocation, I think, of what the appropriate split would be, as well.  But this certainly is a matter for argument.

You look concerned, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I am trying to understand what the undertaking is and maybe I could ask just a question of clarification, not of the witnesses, but of Ms. Sebalj.

The Tillsonburg decision, the support -- the underlying operating costs were already fully allocated.  They were done on a fully allocated basis, and so the CIS then followed that, as I understand it.

Here, the underlying operating costs aren't on a fully allocated basis.  So are you asking them to set up -- set the base percentage on a fully allocated basis, and then allocate the CIS the same way?

MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Clark is telling me that what we want to ask for is an allocation based on the current methodology that is used to allocate between water and electricity.

In other words, there is no expectation that you go to fully allocated costing, and then apply that, but, rather, to use whatever methodology is presently used and allocate it on that basis.

I think similarly to the decision in Tillsonburg, if -- I think the option was given to Tillsonburg that if there was an alternate method of allocating that the utility preferred, that they could proffer that to the Board, as well.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We will accept that undertaking if you are expecting an answer.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, thanks.  So moving on to what I hope are simpler things, I have some questions with respect to purchased services, and, in particular, I would like to take you to a table, School Energy Coalition IR 17.

MS. WHISSELL:  What page is that?

MS. SEBALJ:  It is page 47.  In particular, I wanted to talk a little bit about vegetation management.  I have taken from this table that there are four vendors that are used for vegetation management - I think that's correct - the City of Greater Sudbury, which is at line 6, Tamarack Tree Care at line 10, Ontario Line Clearing & Tree Services at line 11, and McGuire's Tree Guys at line 14; is that correct?

MR. McMILLAN:  There are others that are approved, but have not won any business from us in a long time.  But they are the ones we have done business with recently in terms of when this response was given.

MS. SEBALJ:  And by my calculation -- or, actually, what's in your evidence at Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 3, page 6, and I am not sure that you need to pull it up, unless you disagree with me, but you are proposing an expense of $544,880 for --

MR. McMILLAN:  2009?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Which is actually down by 31,000 from the 2008 figure, which I think was $576,062.  So I guess I run into a little bit of confusion.

The 2008 total in the SEC table I am referring you to is $1,244,335; is that correct?

MR. McMILLAN:  I am sorry, can you point me to that?

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, what I have done is I have added those four vendors' amounts.

MR. McMILLAN:  The four vendors?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, so the 415,637, 318,757, 269,496 and the 238,437, and that gives me 1,244,335.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So if I remove 31,000, I'm still left with 1.2 million, not 544,000?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am wondering if you can help me reconcile that.

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes, okay.  What you are seeing in 2008 is -- in the tree-trimming expense, through these numbers, is two issues.  Number one, we issued -- we had an RFP that went out, and we issued a tender and contracts to various companies for various pieces of our tree-trimming matrix year over year.

MS. SEBALJ:  Right.

MR. McMILLAN:  In 2007, the contracts for Ontario Line Clearing, and I think, to a degree, Tamarack, as well.  Late in the year, both of those companies came to us and said, We can't come and finish this work this year.  We're going to carry it over to next year.

And if you will recall, 2007, 2008 were before the economic crash.  Contractors were busy.  There was lots of work out there.  So I had -- I was faced with an option.  I could say to them, No, you are in breach of your contract, you are not going to show up and meet our deadline dates in 2007 to complete your work, or I could say, Okay, we will allow you to defer that work until early 2008, which they did.

This was after our budget was set, of course, because budget time is earlier than that.  So we carried forward that tree-trimming work that was supposed to be completed in 2007 to 2008, and that was paid in 2008 and you are seeing that there.

Then we had our 2008 contract work, which also included many of those vendors, as well, that was done in 2008.  Then in 2008 we also experienced an unbelievable growth year, and we found in our energy supply division we were getting calls from customers that they were seeing significant problems with trees.

We would go out and visit, and there were safety issues.  We had trees growing into lines, arcing, and this was now things that had been cleared, say, two years, three years previous to our cycle requirements, but the growth was amazing.

So we expended significant monies cleaning up off-cycle safety issues on tree-trimming issues in 2008, and you are seeing that reflected in there.

But in the budget for 2009, what we are putting forward is what we would expect in a normal contracted cycle, plus you always get off-cycle customer requests in a year.  That is in that 500,000, as well.

MS. SPOEL:  Just before you leave that page, I notice the City of Sudbury -- the City of Greater Sudbury, it says tree-trimming gas taxes.  How much of that relates to, under the inventory -- or beside the 415,000, does part include -- does that 415 include your property taxes?

MR. McMILLAN:  I am sorry, I did not look closely at the reference beside the City of Greater Sudbury.  There is a component of tree trimming they bill us for in there.  All of our vehicles, we gas up all of our vehicles at the city yards, and we have a system where we put codes in and they bill us back for the diesel fuel, the gas fuel.  That's in there, as well, so that's got to come out of there.  I don't know how much that is.

And then taxes, the answer?

MS. WHISSELL:  The taxes are in there, as well.

MS. SPOEL:  And that would be about how much, the taxes?  I don't need an exact number, just...

MS. WHISSELL:  150,000.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  I just want to -- if we go back to tree trimming for one second, that assumes again - and I think this is on the technical conference transcript - the four-year tree-trimming cycle?

MR. McMILLAN:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  Just very briefly on regulatory expenses, I am showing, in response to Board Staff IR 24 -- and, again, I am not sure that you have to pull it up, but at table 6, there is a change of about $97,000 -- an increase of about $97,000 in the regulatory expenses in 2009 over 2008.

I am wondering -- I want to clarify how much of those expenses, which is the $323,100 in 2009, are ongoing, and how many of them are one time, or how much of that amount is one time.


MS. KOSKI:  I will start with the increase in the first line, the OEB annual assessment.

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry.

MS. KOSKI:  I don't know if we are looking at the similar same, I am looking at the chart, the regulatory cost category.  I am on page 34 of 90 of those.

We had incorrectly been allocating a portion of the OEB costs the differential between the original invoice from 2000 with the invoices that we received from the OEB and putting that to the variance account.

So we made that change in 2008.  So that's why there is an increase, and then going forward.  So those are the invoices that we receive from the Ontario Energy Board.

MS. SEBALJ:  So those are the section 30 and section 12 costs?

MS. KOSKI:  Yes, right.

MS. SEBALJ:  So what you are explaining to me now is the difference between the 2007 actual of $183,111 and 2008 as of September the 226,092 -- the first line.

MS. KOSKI:  The 2007, exactly, the big increase there was that we had to do that adjustment for -- I believe that ended in April of 2006.  We continued to accrue that difference from the original invoice to the current invoices to the regulatory asset in error.

So we were -- we realized that and adjusted it in that year.  So going forward, those costs will be ongoing.


And then the next line, we will have a portion of those costs in the future because we do receive OEB cost awards for other hearings and other decisions.  So there will be a portion of that cost that will be ongoing.

MS. SEBALJ:  So you now referring to line 2, OEB hearing $100,000 in the test year?


MS. KOSKI:  Yes, right.

MS. SEBALJ:  I guess my question is:  Is that $100,000 amortized over four years?

MS. KOSKI:  No.  That was the cost that we estimated for this year.  We feel that there will be costs going forward, something less, though.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So the 100,000 is for the 2009 test year?


MR. KACICNIK:  That's right.

MS. SEBALJ:  Similarly with legal costs, the 65,000, that's a recurring?


MS. KOSKI:  It will be reoccurring.  It may not be as much as the test years over following years.

MS. WHISSELL:  That is an amortized cost.

MS. SEBALJ:  So that is 65 times four that you have divided, okay.  So what you're saying is that in 2009, you're asking for $323,100.

MS. KOSKI:  Correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  But that going forward, it will be something less but you haven't told us what the something less is.

MS. KOSKI:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  So for purposes of IRM, it might be useful if we had a better idea of your ongoing regulatory costs, if you could provide them.

So to be clear, the $100,000 in line 2 is a one-time 2009 cost; correct?

MS. KOSKI:  A part of it is.  We feel that there will be other costs associated with perhaps other hearings.  We do get invoices for section 30 cost awards, I believe.  So there will be some costs in that nature that we will have going forward, but the $100,000 is for the test year.

MS. SEBALJ:  Right.  And you not planning to amortize that.

MS. KOSKI:  Not as far as I know.

MS. NOWINA:  So were you looking for an undertaking, Ms. Sebalj?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, if you could provide a levelized cost for the next four years for regulatory; that would be helpful.

MS. KOSKI:  Yes, we will provide that.

MS. SEBALJ:  That's Undertaking J2.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.8:  TO PROVIDE A LEVELIZED COST FOR THE NEXT FOUR YEARS FOR REGULATORY

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I would like to add a comment in this particular area.  That almost becomes an impossible task for us.  Like we arrived at the 100,000 based on certain assumptions relative to hearings and which would we be attending.  Our costs have grown astronomically through the process.  We don't know what they are just yet, but when we total up all of those invoices I know that they are going to be significantly more than $100,000 for this year.

So you can see what my dilemma is to try to forecast that.  We have no experience and no way of determining, you know, concretely to specify a number.  But it's, you know, it's going to be significantly more than 100,000.  When we amortize it over a four-year window, we are probably looking at 20 or 30 or so of reduction only.

MS. SEBALJ:  I guess I can provide two comments.  I mean, this is a best-efforts basis and it's recognized that you are in a test year and some of this is forecast.  But there is guidance from I think other Board decisions on these -- on regulatory costs as to the range of what is acceptable.

So I don't think you are in a unique position.  I think most utilities have to give their best guess as to what their ongoing regulatory costs are.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  You have clarified that, that it is our best efforts.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  A quick question about smart meters.  Basically what I want to confirm from you is that there are no smart meter costs in the OM&A budget.

MR. McMILLAN:  That is correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  That is the crux of it.  I have a whole bunch of places to take you to, but that's the crux of the question.

Because in Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 3, page 3, it states the incremental OM&A costs are $623,585 for 2009.

MR. McMILLAN:  Where are we, sorry?

MS. SEBALJ:  Pardon?  Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 3, page 3.

MR. McMILLAN:  Exhibit 2, tab 3, schedule 3.  Page 1 of 2?

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, I am actually at page 3.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  And if you look down under estimated costs in total and on a per meter basis, line 9, it says 2009 estimated total incremental O&M costs six-twenty-three-five-eight-five.

MR. McMILLAN:  In the smart meter rider.

MS. SEBALJ:  Pardon?

MR. McMILLAN:  In the smart meter rider.

MS. SEBALJ:  In the rider?

MR. McMILLAN:  In the rider.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  Exactly.  That's where I was going to take you next, is if you go to Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 1, that amount is used --

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay, so we are going to?

MS. SEBALJ:  It's 9, tab 1, schedule 1.

MR. McMILLAN:  Tab 1, schedule 1.  Page?

MS. SEBALJ:  It's page 19 of 26.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  So -- and that's the number -- if you look in the far left column, the number you have used there at the bottom is that number six-twenty-three-five-eighty-five; correct?

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.

MS. SEBALJ:  But when I take you to Exhibit 4, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. McMILLAN:  Exhibit 4?

MS. SEBALJ:  Tab 2, schedule 1.

MS. NOWINA:  Is there a page, Ms. Sebalj?

MS. SEBALJ:  Page 7 of 21 and it's line 9.

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  It says there:
"Metering is performing some AMI activities, including the installation and ongoing maintenance of the actual smart meters."

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And I have one more.  It's actually just a couple of pages over at page 14 of 21, line 11.  It says:
"The corporation maintains and has revised for 2009 a corporate website that contains up-to-date energy conservation tips, information about smart meters..."

Et cetera, et cetera, et cetera.  So it appears that there is an OM&A component to that?

MR. McMILLAN:  Okay.  If I go back to the instructions on smart meters, the instructions were take incremental costs and put them in the adder.  So if I have a meter technician today on staff who is installing regular meters, and then next year I have that same technician installing or maintaining smart meters, you should find his hours in the regular OM&A, not incremental.  It's not incremental hours.  That's the way we interpret it.

So his costs to change out a smart meter that fails in the middle of 2010 are in the regular OM&A budget, because that's where he was last year, and we didn't get any extra money for that.  We didn't ask for any extra money for that in the smart meter rider.

MS. SEBALJ:  I just want to be clear on that.  Everything to do with smart meters is in the rider?

MR. McMILLAN:  It's incremental, because that was our understanding of the instruction from the Board.

MS. SEBALJ:  Fair enough.  Thank you.  Can I just take you very quickly back to tree trimming?  And I don't think it's anything that requires you to turn anything up.

In a response to School Energy Coalition 15A, you indicated that part of the reason for the large increase for tree trimming had to do with having to shape, as well as trim?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you quantify what the additional costs are associated with that, and -- because I believe that that's not a distribution activity anymore.  That's something that you are doing on behalf of the city as a synergy; is that correct?

MR. REEVES:  I think that some time ago we, in discussions with our board, because we used to get even more tree-trimming complaints than we get now, decided that where the trees were, you know, in the front yard, and so on, that we would not just walk away from the tree, just clearing that portion that's required to clear the line.

MS. SEBALJ:  So it's an aesthetic activity to --

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. McMILLAN:  Right.  And I have had a number of discussions with the city about this issue recently.  I am just coming to realize a couple of things.  What I said was probably true historically, but I am not sure that it's true going forward, because we have worked very hard to try to be, in this area for sure, compliant with ARC, because our advice was that the city is an affiliate for purposes of this discussion.

So what we did when we went out for our tenders last time, in the tender documents, clearly in the RFP it states that the city has the first right of refusal to meet the contractor's price, and that's what they did in certain areas.

They have chosen a few areas and they meet the contractor's price.  In those areas, the city is telling us, in discussions we had very recently this past spring, that that work that they took on, they ended up -- they didn't have their staffing ability to do.  They ended up talking to the same contractors that we talk with to do -- what they said was for the same price, they got it shaped.  It was a matter of how you supervise the contractor, if you will.

So my perception going forward is - and this is part of what we are talking to the city right now - we are going to ask them to start administering the street portions of our contract with the view to they will get what they want, which is a nicely shaped tree, for the contract price that we have from the contractor.

MS. SEBALJ:  So because you can't quantify how much is -- what's necessary for distribution purposes and how much is to keep the public from complaining, all of it is borne by the ratepayer?

MR. McMILLAN:  Yes.  We asked for in our tender document, in the tender document that went out three years ago, that it will be completed in this calendar year, and in the document that's about to go out for asking for tender services, it always asked for -- it asked for proper shaping of trees, aesthetic shaping on streetscapes, that kind of thing.  It's in the document, and it's been in that cost for the last probably three years and maybe the one before that.

MS. SEBALJ:  If you had to tease it out?

MR. McMILLAN:  I don't...  I wouldn't have a clue.  I really don't.

MS. SEBALJ:  Not even a ballpark?

MR. McMILLAN:  No.

MS. SEBALJ:  Can you tell us how the prices may have changed from before and after the --

MR. McMILLAN:  Unfortunately, that would be very difficult, because if you recall the conversation around the four-year cycle, we went from a seven-year cycle in this tendering process to a four-year cycle, because we were having such problems with the tree outages.

So the two are intermingled in that re-tendering; okay?  So we shortened the cycle and we asked specifically for shaping.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am done with tree trimming.  I am sensing impatience.  Just one more quick question.  If I can go back to the CIS system, for the uninitiated, when the new system goes live, is the old system -- it's a software licence, so the licence is pulled and you no longer use it, end of story?  Is that what happens, or is there OM&A overlap there in terms of -- is one system running in parallel with the other?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No.  Our intentions would be to terminate the Advanced system and not support it any longer.  It would just become a surplus asset.


MS. SEBALJ:  Those are all my questions.  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Sidlofsky.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Madam Chair, as I mentioned, I do have some redirect.  It is going to be scoped to the water billing issue.  I have actually provided a couple of copies of a package documents to the panel and to my friends as well.

MS. SEBALJ:  Is this the only package, then, is this one complete package?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's right, it's a package of eight documents.

Madam Chair, I have had a chance to provide copies to my friends and extra copies for the panel.  I haven't --because the witness panel has been under cross-examination, I haven't provided a copy of the package to them.  I am wondering if it might be a good time to take a brief, if you would like, break this afternoon.  I can provide them with a package and I am actually not going into detail with them on this package but I want to make sure that this material is on the record.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, if it will speed things up in total, we might as well take a break now.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think it will.

MS. SPOEL:  All right.  We will return in 15 minutes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, excuse me, Madam Chair, did my friend ask if he would have permission to discuss, to talk with the witnesses or simply give them the piece of evidence?

MS. SPOEL:  I am assuming it's to provide them with copies and give them a chance to look them over.  Mr. Sidlofsky.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It was to provide them a package of the documents.

MS. NOWINA:  You are not going to discuss it?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  No.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry.  I took that as a given, Mr. Shepherd.

--- Recess taken at 2:34 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 2:51 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Sidlofsky.
Re-Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I expect that most of my questions are going to be directed to Mr. Reeves.

Mr. Reeves, one thing I don't have available in -- an extra copy of is the transcript from yesterday's session, but I am going to read a couple of lines in for you, and I'm going to ask you a question on that.

Toward the end of the day, you will recall that Mr. Shepherd was asking you about your water billing arrangements; is that correct?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  One of the questions Mr. Shepherd asked -- and for anybody who does have a copy of the transcript, it's at page 171 starting at line 20.  Mr. Shepherd said:
"Okay, so help me out here."

Sorry, do you have that reference, Mr. Reeves?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Shepherd said:
"Okay, so help me out here.  If you look at page 7, the Board says to you:

"'Therefore, I require GS Hydro to conduct a market review of services purchased from its affiliates and to report on the results of the review by August 28th, 2006.'"

Now, that's page 7 of Mr. Hewson's letter of July 13th, 2006, and that was at School Energy Coalition appendix 16C to your interrogatory responses.  Do you recall that letter?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Shepherd was quoting from page 7 of that letter.  Now, this is a letter from Mr. Hewson.  Have you ever received from the Ontario Energy Board a notice of intention to issue a compliance order?

MR. REEVES:  No, we have not.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So no compliance order arose out of this?

MR. REEVES:  No.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And if I look at Mr. Hewson's letter at the bottom of page 7 -- I am not sure if you have that exhibit handy, but I am going to read it to you, anyway.  Mr. Hewson says:
"The views expressed in this letter are mine and are not binding on the Board.  Although no statutory power of decision has been delegated to me, I may seek enforcement action by the Board under part 7(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act 1998 in relation to non-compliance."

And there were no further non-compliance proceedings involving Greater Sudbury Hydro on this issue, were there?

MR. REEVES:  There were not.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Now, on page 172 of the transcript from yesterday's session, Mr. Shepherd asked:
"Have you had any correspondence with the Board, or did you just ignore this letter?"

Again, in reference to Mr. Hewson's letter.  Your answer was:
"We certainly didn't ignore the letter.  As I said earlier, we made many changes, with this letter and with our discussions with Mr. Hewson."

You already have an undertaking to provide a copy of the letter from Mr. Ruby that Mr. Hewson was responding to.  Are you aware of any other correspondence from Mr. Ruby to Mr. Hewson following Mr. Hewson's letter?

MR. REEVES:  We met at one point, Mr. Ruby, Mr. McMillan and myself, with Mr. Hewson and one of his staff, to discuss some of the issues in the letter, and we attempted to meet with him again later on to try to get some clarification around what it is that we ought to be doing exactly.

And Mr. Ruby was unable to set up that schedule -- that meeting, although he tried several times.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Do you know if there were any other letters that were sent to Mr. Hewson to either respond to his letter, or further correspondence?

MR. REEVES:  I think before I could answer that yes or no, I would actually have to check into it.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Could I ask you to do that and provide any additional correspondence that might have been sent by Mr. Ruby on behalf of Greater Sudbury Hydro?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Sidlofsky, I hesitate to do this, because Mr. Shepherd did start into this area, so it's quite proper for you to go into it, but I am not sure that it's really going to be all that relevant from the point of view of the rates decision in this case.

So we will sort of take it for what it's worth, but, you know, I hesitate to encourage you to spend a lot of time.  We have seen the letters.  We know about the proceedings, the attempt by the EDA to amend the Affiliate Relationships Code.  I was actually a member of that panel that didn't proceed with that hearing, so we are fully aware of the history of that.

So, you know, I just don't think you need to spend a lot of time on this.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I really don't intend to.  I don't intend to take Mr. Reeves in detail through the package of material that I have filed, but I would like to ensure that that's on the record in the proceeding, because I expect it will come up in argument.  I can tell you --

MS. SPOEL:  That's fine, that's fine.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I can tell you I really just want to take Mr. Reeves to a couple items from each letter simply to identify some of the concerns that were being addressed, and I can tell you the concern is this -- my concern is that the suggestion that may have been left with the Board is that Sudbury Hydro did very little in the way of transfer pricing issues, did very little in the way of compliance for the roughly three years between Mr. Hewson's letter and the amendments to the Affiliate Relationships Code in 2008.

And I would like to address any concern that the Board might have in that regard, and that's why I have this package in front of you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, perhaps I can comment that we did ask on the record:  Was there any subsequent correspondence with Mr. Hewson?  And I believe that Mr. Reeves said no.  So I don't want to miss this undertaking, because this is what we were looking for in the first place and I don't want to --

MS. SPOEL:  That's fine, Mr. Shepherd.  I just wanted to keep this within reasonable bounds, that's all.  You did -- there was an undertaking, I believe, Ms. Sebalj.  Could we have a number for that, please?

MS. SEBALJ:  It's J2.9, and if you just want to clarify?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It would be to review Greater Sudbury Hydro's records for copies of correspondence between Peter Ruby and the chief compliance officer.

MS. NOWINA:  And to file that correspondence?  You said review and also to file?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And to file, yes.  I was just going to add something there, though:  Following the chief compliance officer's letter of July 13th, 2006.

MS. SPOEL:  And presumably correspondence from anybody other than Mr. Ruby, if one of his partners, or if someone at Greater Sudbury Hydro corresponded directly with Mr. Hewson, that would be encompassed in that, as well.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, maybe we could say on behalf of Sudbury Hydro to the chief compliance officer.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.9:  To review Greater Sudbury Hydro's records for copies of correspondence, from them or on their behalf, between Peter Ruby and the chief compliance officer, following the chief compliance officer's letter of July 13th, 2006, and, if available, file.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Reeves, you actually spoke with my friend, Mr. Shepherd, and with Ms. Sebalj today about the relationship between transfer pricing and structural issues at the utility, and you've mentioned a couple of times, now, that structural changes were made at Sudbury Hydro as a result of Mr. Hewson's letter.

And so far, I understand that you made changes on the website, on the Greater Sudbury Hydro website?

MR. REEVES:  Well, actually, what happened with the website is we shut it down after we received his letter.  I can't say how many days after.  That's quite some time ago, but that letter is very strongly worded and we took it very seriously.

And one of the things that we could do immediately was shut down the website, so we did.  And, in fact, we didn't have a website for a couple of months until we, you know, had one put together that was, at least in our view, compliant.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And that was one of the items, I understand that.  And you also mentioned that the one-six corporation was established as a result of -- or following Mr. Hewson's letter; is that right?


MR. REEVES:  We made some structural changes that I talked about this morning, and we turned the 162 company into basically the services company for the competitive business.  We bargained with the union to create a separate bargaining unit and a separate collective agreement for the competitive services, and we transferred employees, both management and union, officially into that company out of the Plus company and those were all to comply with the structural issues that we had with our organization.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And you didn't feel that you were in a position to deal with transfer pricing at that point for the wires company; correct?

MR. REEVES:  No.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Now, the first item in the package of eight documents I have provided to you is a letter from counsel to the Electricity Distributors Association.  Now, you mentioned yesterday when you were speaking to --

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Sidlofsky, are you wanting to mark these as exhibits, as an exhibit, perhaps?


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's what I had been thinking, yes.  It would just make things easier.


MS. SPOEL:  Why don't we do that before we start.

MS. SEBALJ:  It will be marked as Exhibit K2.2 and it is a package of...


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It's eight documents.


MS. SEBALJ:  Eight documents, the top document being a letter dated September 20th, 2006, to the Board Secretary from Andrew Taylor of Ogilvy Renault and enclosing an application with respect to the -- on behalf of the Electricity Distributors Association regarding the Affiliate Relationships Code.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  LETTER DATED SEPTEMBER 20, 2006 FROM ANDREW TAYLOR TO THE BOARD SECRETARY and enclosing an application on behalf of the Electricity Distributors Association regarding the Affiliate Relationships Code

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, Mr. Reeves, if I could just step back for a minute.  What you told Mr. Shepherd was that you did make a lot of changes that were required and I am reading here from page 170 of the transcript, bottom of the page.

You go on to say:
"When it came to the issue of transfer pricing, what happened was a number of utilities had questions about the Affiliate Relationships Code.  We worked through our association, the EDA, and the Code itself came under review."


Now, the first document in the package I have provided to you and what's now Exhibit K2.2 is a copy of a letter from Mr. Taylor at Ogilvy Renault covering an application from the Electricity Distributors Association related to the Affiliate Relationships Code.  Are you familiar with that application?

MR. REEVES:  Yes.  My recollection is that when the compliance department was formed, a number of utilities came under pretty strenuous review and -- including ourselves -- we went to our association and said, you know, What's going on?  What can we -- how do we deal with this issue?  And the EDA board decided to move in this direction.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, sir, the application refers to bulletins from the chief compliance officer and at page 2, the EDA suggests that a number of activities that the chief compliance officer seeks to prohibit, and I would just like you to confirm these for me.  First is the contracting out of LDC employees in circumstances that maximize the efficient use of utility resources.  And the EDA suggests that that is specifically authorized by section 71 and section 73 of the OEB Act, and which reduces costs that are otherwise recoverable from ratepayers and rates.

The third item on that list at paragraph 5(c):
"The provision of services to affiliates in municipalities in circumstances that maximize the efficient use of utility resources."


And that paragraph goes on from there.

There is a suggestion at page 3 of the application, paragraph 11:
"That the CCO has not taken into account the impact his ARC interpretation will have on rates and the efficient use of LDC resources, and has failed to demonstrate the existence of any harm to ratepayers."


Later, at paragraph 12::

"It is in the public interest for the Board to provide clarification on these issues prior to requiring LDCs to embark upon costly compliance initiatives that are unnecessary and which would increase the regulatory burden of both the Board and the LDCs, and most importantly increase the costs to be borne by ratepayers."


And the paragraph continues.

Now, you said you are familiar with this application.  Would you have -- with this application underway, and maybe I should go on to indicate what the EDA was seeking in terms of relief, but the -- at paragraph 14, the EDA sought amendments to the ARC.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, I'm sorry to interrupt, but this doesn't sound like redirect questioning to me.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I am simply trying to establish Mr. Reeves' familiarity with the application.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, Mr. Sidlofsky, it is already on the record, and I couldn't tell you where in the cross-examination it is, but I clearly heard your witnesses say that they -- because of this application, they did not proceed with some of the items, or specifically, the cost allocation study.  We have heard that evidence.  It is uncontradicted so far.  I don't expect it is going to be contradicted and so I don't think we need to go through.

First of all, it's not -- this was not an application brought for Greater Sudbury Hydro, it's an application by the association.  It's on the public record.  You can refer to it in argument, if you wish.

I don't think it's of any particular use at this point to spend time going through the details of the application.  We have heard already the reasons, some of the reasons, including specifically this application why they did not proceed with the cost allocation study.  So -- and no one has -- I don't think there is any argument that they -- we need anything more on the record to establish that that was their reason.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I am happy to move on.  In fact, I am happy to not refer to every one of these documents, Madam Chair.

But I would ask Mr. Reeves, given the ongoing EDA application, I think it's fair to ask if you're aware that the Board's ARC review proceeding followed the EDA application.

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Now, the EDA application was never completed; was it?  It was never disposed of by the Board; is that correct?


MR. REEVES:  I don't think so, because I think that the Board decided to proceed with the review of the ARC.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, are you aware that the Board issued a notice of application and hearing on the EDA application?

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Sidlofsky, he just said he was aware that it wasn't proceeded with.  I am not sure what use it is to this panel in this case to go through a recitation of what happened in a case that wasn't proceeded with.  We have already heard and we are fully aware of what happened with this application.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  I will move on from any questions about that proceeding.

You are aware, Mr. Reeves, that OEB's ARC review process began in June of 2007; would that be correct?  If I can take you to document 8 of the package of eight, the final one there.

MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  If you look at the back page of that which is simply a copy of the Board's -- of the page from the Board's website relating to the ARC review, EB-2007-0662, it appears that the ARC review began in 2007 with a staff discussion paper -- or staff research paper and proceeded until May of 2008 with the release of an amended Affiliate Relationships Code; correct?

MR. REEVES:  Yes, I believe it was to come into effect August 2008.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So effectively then, sir, between September of 2006 and May of 2008 or August of 2008, there were proceedings underway to consider, among other things, transfer pricing issues in the Affiliate Relationships Code; is that correct?


MR. REEVES:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And in that context as the president of Sudbury Hydro, would it have been reasonable, in your view, to have made further structural changes or made further adjustments to deal with transfer pricing in that context?

MR. REEVES:  What we wanted to do was to be certain that we weren't making changes that we would have to change again, so we were looking for some clear direction or interpretation before we proceeded to make changes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, sir, those are my questions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I just raise one point of procedure.  This package of documents, K2.2, misses one document, which is a key document.  You will be aware of this, but not everybody necessarily in the procedural will be, so I'll mention it, and that is Procedural Order No. 2 in the EDA proceeding, which was the procedural order seven days later than the ones here that adjourned it sine die.

I am concerned that my friend asked his witness a question that is technically not allowed; that is, a leading question raising a new issue; i.e., Was transfer pricing in the review?

And I am putting it on the record to give him an opportunity to ask his witness whether he wants to describe it for fully, because it will come up in argument.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, is there anything further you want to ask on that, Mr. Sidlofsky, or should we just note Mr. Shepherd's point?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Well, my concern, I would like to be clear that Mr. Reeves understood that transfer pricing related issues were raised in the EDA proceedings and the Board's review of the Affiliate Relationships Code, and I think that's a legitimate question.

It's not clear to me how that leads Mr. Reeves, and, in fact, when it comes to argument and when it comes to referring what's on the record, the record is actually very clear.  The transfer pricing issues are found throughout the record of the ARC review.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is fine.  I just wanted to make sure the record was --

MS. SPOEL:  I think we will just leave it at that.

MS. SPOEL:  We have another witness panel.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  So this panel is concluded.  I understand there are some more changes in --

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  There is just one replacement, but that can be done very quickly.  Mr. Bacon and Ms. Koski are just going to trade places, so we don't need a break for that.

MS. SPOEL:  While you are getting organized, given that it is already quarter past 3:00, unless it goes extremely quickly, it looks like we might not finish this afternoon.  I think if it appears by about 5 o'clock that we won't finish by 5:30, or so, I don't think it's fair to the witnesses or the court reporter to proceed for a lot longer than that.

So we will see how things go, but we are not going to sit here until seven or so to finish up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For the assistance of the Board, I do not expect to have questions on panel 3.

MS. SPOEL:  Well, then maybe we will.  Maybe we will be able to move through quickly.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Bacon, you will need to come forward to be sworn.
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MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I just have literally a few minutes of examination-in-chief.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, go ahead.
Examination by Mr. Sidlofsky:

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  First of all, I will just remind the panel that they are still under oath, and Mr. Bacon, you are now, as well.

Mr. Bacon, you are a senior consultant, a senior utility rate consultant at Borden Ladner Gervais, and I understand you have been from November to the present -- excuse me, November of 2007 to the present?

MR. BACON:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And I understand that you are working with approximately -- or have worked with approximately 40 electricity distribution utilities on their 2008, 2009 and 2010 rebasing applications?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And prior to that, you were a consultant with the Elenchus Research Associates from 2003 to 2007?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Econalysis before that, and prior to that Ontario Hydro from 1990 to 1998; is that right?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Now, Mr. Bacon, what's your role on this panel?

MR. BACON:  My role on this panel is to provide support to issues relating to load forecasting, cost allocation and rate design, and I assisted Sudbury Hydro with the preparation of its application as its relates to load forecasting.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And Mr. Bacon, is the Sudbury Hydro approach to load forecasting in this application consistent with the approach taken by other distributors?

MR. BACON:  Yes.  The approach was used by Toronto Hydro in its 2008, '9 and '10 rate application, which the Board approved.  It is essentially the same -- similar methodology.  It was also approved by the Board for Innisfil Hydro, Lakeland Power, Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro and Thunder Bay Hydro in their 2009 cost-of-service applications, and it's also the approach used by London Hydro in its 2009 application, which is currently awaiting the Board's decision.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And have you worked with at least some of the utilities that have used that methodology?

MR. BACON:  Every one of them.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mr. Pawlowicz, could you comment on Sudbury Hydro's treatment of its cost to capital?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Sudbury Hydro's capital structure and its approach to cost of capital are set out in Exhibit 6 to our application.  Our current capital structure for rate-making purposes is 53.3 percent debt and 46.7 percent equity.

We have proposed in our application to move to a capital structure of a 56.7 percent debt and 43.3 percent equity for rate-making purposes.

Our application was based on a return on equity of 8.57 percent, but we understood that the Board would be establishing updated cost of capital parameters for 2009 application.  The Board's 2009 return on equity is 8.1 percent -- 8.01 percent, and we acknowledge that our proposed rates will have to be adjusted to reflect the updated return on equity.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Perhaps I can ask you to go on, Mr. Pawlowicz, and comment on Sudbury Hydro's treatment of its debt costs.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Sudbury Hydro currently has only one outstanding debt instrument.  That is a promissory note in favour of Greater Sudbury Utilities Inc., an affiliate of Sudbury Hydro, in the amount of $48,645,458, which bears a coupon rate of 7.26 percent.

It was issued in November of 2000 and has not been modified.  In all of our previous rate applications, the deemed debt rate of 7.25 percent has been applied by the Board for rate-making purposes.  A copy of that note was filed in response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 42 as appendix 42A.

We have another debt instrument shown in our calculation of weighted long-term debt cost that is shown as a third party loan from the Toronto-Dominion Bank at 6.10 percent over a 20-year period.

When we prepared this application, we assumed that the debt rate on the third party loan would be 6.1 percent, consistent with the Board's deemed long-term debt rate.  We anticipated borrowing the money to support our smart metering initiative, an additional capital project.

We use the rate of 6.1 percent, because at that time of the application, we did not know when the funds would be required or the terms under which they would be required.  As a result, it would not have been practical at that time to obtain a quote.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Have you borrowed the money?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, we have not.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And do you have any comment with respect to short-term debt?


MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Our current deemed short-term debt rate is 4.47 percent, but we understand the Board has reduced that to 1.33 percent in this year's cost of capital parameters, so that our 4 percent deemed short-term debt will now attract a rate of 1.33 percent.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Ms. Whissell, could you comment on Sudbury Hydro's approach to cost allocation?

MS. WHISSELL:  I can.  As a result of our cost allocation study, it was evident that the revenue-to-cost ratios for street lighting and sentinel lighting were not in conformity with the Board ratios.

For purposes of our rate application for street lights and sentinel lights, we have moved the revenue-to-cost ratios to halfway between the current levels and the lower end of the Board's approved range, and we intend to move them the rest of the way to the lower end of the range as part of our 2010 IRM application.

For unmetered scattered loads, we adjusted the revenue-to-cost ratio so as to reduce it to just below Board's upper limit.

Historically we believe that all general service customers were subsidizing the residential customer class.  As a result, we have slightly increased the residential revenue-to-cost ratio closer to unity and used the additional revenue from residential street lighting and sentinel lighting classes to lower the revenue-to-cost ratios for the general service classes closer to unity.  Our relief was reported and information provided by Mr. Shepherd in the technical conference at Exhibit TC No. 8.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, panel.

Madam Chair, the panel is available for cross.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good afternoon.  I am going to be starting with the issue of load forecast and what I will do to try to get us out of here today is that I have most of my cites I have prepared for the computer screen, so I will bring them up and if you trust that they are from the evidence, then fine.  If you need to look them up, then just let me know and we can do that, but that should speed things along.  It is mostly just to remind you what's already in the evidence.

You can see I am starting with Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1,  page 6 of 19, and in summary I believe this is the equation for the load forecast model; is that correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at this, we see that the coefficient for the Ontario real GDP monthly index is negative; right?

MR. BACON:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And as I understand it, that means that the forecast level of economic activity increases, then the resulting load forecast will be lower, it will decrease; is that how that works?

MR. BACON:  That's how that works, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now I am going to the technical conference transcript here, and this is at page 7 of the technical conference transcript.

We asked about the load forecast and I have highlighted here, but essentially Mr. Thiessen of Board Staff asked why the load forecast wasn't updated to reflect the lower economic activity.  And the response - well, you can see it here, the response from Ms. Whissell was:
"In the follow up interrogatory, we had provided information with the updated GDP information."


And GDP information relates to economic activity; correct?

MR. BACON:  That is correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  "But as noted, it provided load
increase even though GDP was declining.  We didn't think that made sense and we are comfortable with our original load forecast and that's what we would continue to table."


So on that basis, the company decided they weren't going to update the load forecast; correct?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, over the page there was some follow-up on the issue of the model and this is talking about the consultant, and essentially -- and you can read it for yourself on the page, but if I paraphrase, the company is confident with the consultant and the consultant is confident with the model; correct?

MR. BACON:  Yes, I guess that's what the company said, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it doesn't say who the consultant is.

MR. BACON:  I think it's obvious who it is now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it's obvious why Mr. Harper asked me to ask who the consultant was and what their experience is, but that's you.

MR. BACON:  That's me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I presume the company continues to be comfortable with the model; correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, can you explain, though, why it is you that you are comfortable with the model and the model has a negative co-efficiency impact based on GDP, or economic activity, such that it's part of the model that if the GDP decreases, the load forecast increases?  You are comfortable with all that.

But when it comes to a potential for updated load forecast and the updated load forecast includes an updated economic activity number and that economic activity number is an increase and that increase - sorry, is a decrease and that decrease create as negative - sorry, an increase in load forecast, you have said you don't think that makes sense and therefore you are not going to apply the model to update the figures.

MS. WHISSELL:  That is what I said.

MR. BACON:  Would you like me to try to explain why we are going this route?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to reconcile the two positions.  You like the model, but when the model works to increase load forecast, it doesn't make sense you're not applying the model.  So can you reconcile?  That's what I am getting from the transcript here, and if you can reconcile those two things.

MR. BACON:  I would like to take you to why there is a negative coefficient first.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.


MR. BACON:  So if we turn to schedule 3, tab 2, schedule 1, page 8, table 8-4.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not that quick.  I will try it again.

MR. BACON:  Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1, page 8.

All right.  If we can blow that table 4 up, that's what I am going to speak to.

I would like to explain why there is a negative coefficient first, and then leading into that, we always have to judge whether the forecast is reasonable or not.


So first of all, if we could take a look at table 4 under the column "actual," I just want to quickly go through each of those years and indicate there seems to be a roller coaster on historical numbers.

What I mean by a roller coaster is we go from 1998 to 1999, there is an increase.  2000, there is another increase.  2001, it goes down.

2002, it goes up.  2003, it goes up.  2004, goes down.  2005 goes up.

2006 goes down, and 2007 goes up.

So what you have, you have a roller coaster effect on -- you have actual data that actually goes up and down.  What that means when you do a regression analysis, there is an underlying decline in your forecast.  Most of the -- most of the things are increasing but there is some underlying decline that you need the take consideration of, and it appears the regression analysis has attached that decline to the Ontario GDP.  So that's what's happened there with that particular thing.

Now --

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I can stop you for a second.  You are saying that it explains the decline in terms of the GDP, and at that time, the GDP was increasing therefore it shows a relationship between an increasing GDP and negative load?  Is that right?

MR. BACON:  Right.  Because my understanding of regression analysis is it finds this particular negative decline and it has to -- it's correlated best to the GDP.  Now for -- am I an expert in regression analysis?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was about to ask.

MR. BACON:  No, I would not say that.  I have a mathematics degree, but there is probably other people in the room that know more aggression analysis than I do.  But other than that, the fact is it has to -- we have got these explanatory variables that we are using in our regression analysis, and it has done a regression and it has decided, the regression has that the best direct correlation to the negative movement in the forecast is assigned to the GDP.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that explains why the -- as I understand it, that explains why that negative coefficient appears in the formula.

MR. BACON:  Yes, so I just --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I understand that.

MR. BACON:  All right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that peculiar to the formula that's used for Sudbury or is that the formula in general and you have mentioned all the other companies that used the formula?

MR. BACON:  It happened in one other case as well, which has gone before this Board and has been approved.  It tends to be in the north, and I don't know why it's in the north, but it tends to be in the north.  Specifically Lakelands, if you review Lakelands' equation, it has also a negative coefficient on the GDP.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So from that, I take it that the coefficient related to GDP is tailored to each individual franchise area?

MR. BACON:  Absolutely, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So some companies will have a positive GDP coefficient and some will have a negative?

MR. BACON:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in this particular case, Sudbury has a negative coefficient?

MR. BACON:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So that explains why it is in the formula and why it's negative?

MR. BACON:  Okay, now, there is a reason.  Okay, so it is in the formula.  It's negative.  Is it reasonable, my question to you?  We believe it's reasonable, because - and I have discussed this with the Sudbury people themselves - the thought is that in Sudbury, in actual fact, when the economy goes down, people stay home and use electricity more, conceptually.

And also -- and correct me here if I am wrong, Brian, but also when the economy declines, the mines around the area do not actually work as -- the hours are cut back and people go home.  They are not working; they are at home.

So do we have a study to show that?  No.  Is it intuition -- is there a good rationale for it?  That's basically what we have come up with, the rationale for why it's negative.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the next question, though, is:  You have satisfied yourselves that the formula is fine, the negative coefficient is fine, but when it comes to a new GDP forecast for 2009, an updated one, which is a positive -- sorry, a negative GDP --

MR. BACON:  Mm-hmm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- a negative trend, which means that the economic activity is going down, and you put that in your formula, it increases the load forecast.  At some point, you said, well, no.  That particular instance of the coefficient working in Sudbury is not something that we want to account for, and that's what's missing in your answer.

MR. BACON:  Okay, exactly.  I want to take you to that.  And then you actually, what you want to do is to look at:  Do you have a reasonable forecast with the method that you have here in front of us?  So if we flip back to page 1, table 1, you will see here that the -- this is the forecast of billed gigawatt hours, and we look at the percentage change in the fourth column and we have a growth rate from 2007 to 2009, in total, of 1.6 percent.

Now, we look at that and say, in Sudbury, that's probably reasonable, but to go any much higher than that just doesn't seem to be reasonable within the conditions in Sudbury at the time.  Now -- so that's our dilemma.

Now, also, if you go to Staff IR -- Board Staff IR No. 9, page 14 -- sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Page 14 of the total, okay.

MR. BACON:  Yes.  Actually, go to page 15.  Here we did an analysis.  Specifically blow up part B.  The whole thing, I guess.  Good.

And here we did an analysis of -- we were asked to look at ten-year average, 20-year average and 30-year average weather normalization, and through the process we actually determined that we had the wrong weather -- we had the incorrect heating degree days and cooling degree days in the model.  For Sudbury we actually had another client's values in there.

But putting that aside, what this shows is that if we were to revise the application, that we believe that it should be 969, but we decided to stay with the 973 for rate mitigation purposes.

So I guess when it comes down to it, there is rationale to take the 973 down to 969, and then maybe if you wanted to adjust that again for the fact of the change in GDP, then it would come up again.

So with the movement potentially down and the movement potentially back up with the GDP, it was believed that the 973 was a reasonable number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So what you are telling me, it seems, is that we're right that the update to the economic forecast -- there is nothing wrong with it, but you found this error, which if it was also incorporated into the load forecast, would offset the difference?  That's what you are telling me?

MR. BACON:  That's what I am telling you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's on the assumption you go with the ten-year average?

MR. BATTISTA:  Yes, with the ten-year average.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which is what you did, initially?

MR. BACON:  Which is what we did in the forecast.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I understand.  Is there any plans to work on and improve the load forecast methodology for the next rebasing application?

MR. BACON:  Absolutely -- I am speaking for you people.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You want that contract?

MR. BACON:  I don't need any more work.  These guys keep me busy enough.  Yes, the answer is yes, because what's happening is the whole area of load forecasting in the electrical distribution business is actually a new discipline, and I believe that very strongly.

And in a number of the submissions that we put forward with our clients, we say it's an evolving science, and we are willing to learn from others and willing to learn ourselves.  And specifically when you see the 2010s come in, there is tweaks that are happening already when the 2010 applications come in, to this process; nothing significantly different.  But we certainly are willing to look at what others are doing, seeing how they can improve this process.

It is not perfect, believe me, but it's a start, I would say, in going in the right direction.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you tell me, I guess, specific presumably to Sudbury, whether there are specific issues that are looking to be addressed for the next load forecast for the Board purposes?

MR. BACON:  I haven't gone down that route yet.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. BACON:  What we typically suggest, that we will keep a close eye on what others are doing in their applications and what they are doing in their load forecast, and, if there are things there that could help our load forecasting process, we will certainly use those.

MS. WHISSELL:  Follow best practice, in essence.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I am going to move on to -- I believe it's still a load forecasting topic, but it's the adjustment that was made for CDM; okay?  That's what I am going to be talking about.

Now, I will start -- I'd ask for some confirmation.  Our understanding is that the load forecast model was developed using historical data up to July 28th, and I have that in the evidence at Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1, page 9.  That's a simple confirmation.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, could you also confirm that the forecast as prepared, using the model as we have discussed and the forecast values for the explanatory variables, you have your result, and then the result is adjusted for CDM impacts that Sudbury Hydro believes are not captured in the model information.

So the model spits out a result, and then you do this CDM adjustment; is that how it works?

MS. WHISSELL:  To the greatest extent, generally, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, more specifically, this adjustment is meant to capture any CDM programs that were offered after June 2006 because, in your view, the impacts of these CDM programs are not reflected in your historic usage data that was used to develop the model in the first place?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I am going to turn up Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1 at page 9.  And this shows the CDM adjustment for 2009 to be 4.3 gigawatts for purchases.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you confirm that this 4.3-gigawatt hour adjustment to purchases is equivalent to the 4.043654-kilowatt-hour adjustment, and I will show you the reference in a second I am just going to finish reading, at the build level reported in the response to VECC 40(b).

So I will pull up VECC 40(b).  You can see I have highlighted down here in the corner.  You have lost revenue adjustment mechanism savings by programming class for 2005 to 2007, and down here you have got 4.043653 which I believe, my understanding is that's at the build level and then if you I guess gross it up for line loss, you end up with 4.3 gigawatt hours.  Is that...

MS. WHISSELL:  That's reasonable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay. So that's where the 4.3 gigawatt hours comes from.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Just for completeness, the lost value for 2009 is found at Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1, page 10 and it's -- for 2009, it's 1.0527.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, this staying with this 4.043 figure, can you confirm that that amount of CDM reflects all of the 2006 and 2007 programs?  Because you are assuming that all of the 2006 programs were initiated after June 2006.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I'm going to turn to technical conference Exhibit No. 6, I think.  Actually it was in the technical conference transcript but you just reproduced something from the evidence so this is actually Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 10, page 10 of 13.

And what I am looking here specifically at is the contribution of the 2006 programs to the LRAM request for 2006 and 2007, so I am looking down here.

What we have here, you see I have highlighted fully effective kilowatt-hour savings 3,920,983 kilowatt-hours, I guess.  I always mix up my measurements.  But 3.9 gigawatt hours; right?  Is that correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, this is the same 3.92 gigawatt hours, if you go back to the previous --

MS. WHISSELL:  It's the same number.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's the same number for 2006, okay.

Now, the problem here and I think maybe -- I don't know, we will find out.  The problem here is that you're adjusting your load forecast for 2009 based on the idea that your historical values which feed into the model don't capture the CDM impacts of the 2006 programs in 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 years at the same time that you are asking for LRAM for CDM impacts from those same programs in 2007.  So that there is a problem there.

MR. BACON:  What is the problem?  Because the reason we do that is you have to adjust the forecast going forward that LRAM and SSM -- well, LRAM specifically deals with historical.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But the problem -- maybe I can pull up something here.

MR. BACON:  Because we adjust the program going forward because we want to reduce the risk of additional LRAM, but the LRAM we are asking for here is for historically what we have lost, that is as a result of the programs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to turn up VECC IR No. 38 which is a supplementary IR if someone is looking for it.  And what you are saying here is -- this is in response to a question about this issue, and the answer is:
"Our initial statement indicated that CDM programs offered prior to June 2006 have impacted historical usage and those started after that date have not.  Our response to interrogatory question 10 states we do feel actual consumption for to 2007 and 2008 will have been impacted in actual, implies historical consumption.  This would relate to programs offered prior to June 2006.  Programs initiated later don't have the impact because the time lag between launching of a program in response to a customer.  Our third-party study evaluated savings for 2005, 2006, and 2007.  Our manual adjustments reflect only 2006 and 2007.  Inherent in our adjustments is the assumption that the 2006 programs commenced later than June of that year."


Now, reading this, and this is our understanding, this is what we think has happened, you are making an adjustment to your load forecast because you are using historical data from 2006 and 2007 as part of your model.  And you're saying that the CDM programs that you implemented post June 2006 didn't have an impact in 2006 because it takes a long time to get to the customer.  So your actual, your actual loads in those years weren't impacted by those CDM programs, and that's why you have to adjust your forecast.

At the same time, you are applying for LRAM - I have showed you an LRAM calculation - and that LRAM is recovered on the basis that 2006, 2007 volumes were impacted by those volumes to that degree.

So there is a problem here in terms of reconciling why it is you have to change your historical data to reflect the fact that the CDM programs have no effect in your historical data, at the same time that you are claiming LRAM on the basis of the impact on your historical data.

MR. BACON:  The point of adjusting the forecast is to try and get - yes, we adjust the historical forecast but literally, the 2006 and 2007 and even the 2008 values have little impact on the rate application itself.  It's the 2009 number which is important, and we are trying to build the adjustments so that the 2009 amount is correct and it's correct going forward.

So we have a forecast for setting rates which is correct, that's what -- so that's what 2009 is an about.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But the way it's been explained, as I understand it in the evidence, is the reason you are making a 4.3-gigawatt adjustment in 2009 is at least in part because there is 3.9 gigawatt hours of CDM related to 2006 programs that weren't captured in your historical data because they didn't impact, for example, in 2007 at the same time you are asking for LRAM because they did impact in 2007.

MS. WHISSELL:  And there could be a marginal error there, acknowledged, but my understanding of the load forecast is it's based on ten years of history and so if I had no CDM in 2006/2007, no, I have a weighting -- I have in my 2009 forecast I have a weighting of the years 1998 through to 2005 and half of 2006 that don't take into effect those CDM savings, and then in 2006/2007 actual results, they are reflected but I took probably the full amount out for the ten-year weighting and perhaps I should have applied a factor of 8 and a half divided by ten kind of thing.  Do you follow what I am trying to say?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can't say that I do.  I mean the way that I look at it, either the 2006 programs had an impact, which is reflected in your historical numbers.

MS. WHISSELL:  For 2006 and 2007.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  In which case you would be entitled to an LRAM, but at the same time your load forecast to the extent it uses historical numbers doesn't need an adjustment; or there was no impact, and you do have to make some sort of adjustment to the load forecast.  One of the two has to be true, it seems to me.

One has more of an impact than the other.

If it turns out there was no impact in 2006 and 2007, that means you weren't entitled to LRAM in those years and that's a big impact.

If it turns out that the historical numbers are correct and you don't need to adjust the load forecast, what you're telling me is yeah, but it's a weighted 10-year average so the impact will be small.  That might be true but one of the two has to be true.

MS. WHISSELL:  I would argue that the study suggests that the impact is there.  The load forecast may have inaccurately reflected the adjustment for CDM for consumption.


MR. BUONAGURO:  If it helps, and in the interest of time, I think you understand the issue.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps we can take an undertaking for you to sit back, relax and give me an answer to why I am wrong, if I am wrong, okay?  Does that sound good?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  It will be J2.10, and you are going to have to articulate it for me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  With respect to the issue identified by VECC, which is the apparent inconsistency between recovering LRAM for programs that were instituted in 2006 and '7 at the same time that you're adjusting your load forecast on the basis that those programs had no impact in 2006 and '7 - and forgive me if I have the years wrong, but I think you understand the issue - you are going to provide an explanation as to why that's wrong, or I guess accept that it's partially right or fully right, and what the resolution should be.

MS. WHISSELL:  Correct.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.10:  TO EXPLAIN THE APPARENT INCONSISTENCY BETWEEN recovering LRAM for programs instituted in 2006 and 2007 WHILE adjusting THE load forecast on the basis that those programs had no impact in 2006 and 2007

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  On a similar topic, sticking with reconciliation of numbers, I am going back to this Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 10, page 10 of 13, and I will blow it up, what I am looking at.

So this shows the mass market programs that were targeted to residential customers, mostly; is that correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And at the top, and I have highlighted here, we have fully effective kilowatt-hour savings of 3.92 gigawatts, and we have talked about it being used in the CDM adjustment.  It appears to us to be greater than the sum of the values of the programs, the individual programs.

So if you look at the table, under three-nine-twenty-ninety-three, you have all the different programs, and if you add them all up, it doesn't come near 3.920.  So I was wondering if you could reconcile why that would be?

I think if you sum the mass market programs, they come up to 3.66 gigawatt hours -- or kilowatt hours, sorry.

MS. WHISSELL:  So the difference appears to be the two-fifty-four-one-ninety-three below.  That is what it appears to be.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, the Sudbury Hydro lighting retrofit project, that's what you're referring to here of two-five-four-one-nine-three?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's not a residential program, a CDM residential program, is it?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you have factored it into the 3.92; is what you are telling me?

MS. WHISSELL:  We may have to make an adjustment here.  I didn't take an add tape of it.  I read mass markets as being exactly the subheadings here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The issue being that when you are making these CDM adjustments - and I think we have it in other places in the evidence - you are talking about CDM adjustments to residential?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, you are correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So I guess what you are telling me is that the assumption is three-nine-two applied to residential, which turns out may not be the case -- or is not the case?

MS. WHISSELL:  So perhaps that number should be the three-seven -- whichever figure you quoted.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So maybe I can take an undertaking to follow up on that adjustment to basically isolate the residential programs only, which will require you to change the total number, and then flow through wherever it flows through, which may be different things based on your answer to the first undertaking.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think this isn't a problem that is just here.  If you look in the partially effective 2006 column -- anyway, I think you understand.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That same type of problem may appear in other parts of the tables when you are talking about the actual CDM number that you pulling out, so if you could review them all, that would be great.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  It is undertaking J2.11.  Can I just have you reiterate where we are in the evidence for undertaking purposes?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.  Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 10, page 10, and the discussion revolved around table 5B, specifically, but the undertaking applies to anywhere where the same problem may exist.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.11:  WITH REFERENCE TO EXHIBIT 9, TAB 1, SCHJEDULE 10, PAGE 10, TABLE 5B, WITH RESPECT TO THE CDM ADJUSTMENT TO LOAD FORECAST TO CORRECT THE CDM ADJUSTMENT TOR REFLECT ONLY THE APPROPRIATE RESIDENTIAL PROGRAMS

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am going to ask you some numbers to clarify the customer count data that's in the record.  I am pulling up VECC number 31A, which asked you for customer count data, and you provide a response.

And during the tech conference - I won't pull it up, but it's at page 68 - you were asked to confirm that the data was generated -- you were asked to confirm when the data was generated, and you said it was generated on January 5th, 2008 and it was for the 2007 year end; is that correct?

I think it says at the bottom 2007 data, but...

MS. WHISSELL:  2007 consumption data.  The customer numbers were generated basically right after the year end.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So they are 2007 year end data?

MS. WHISSELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, in the application, you provided 2007 year end values.  And this is Exhibit 3, tab 2, schedule 1, page 19, which I will pull up.  I think I said page 19.  The values are different.

So when we look at the 2008 weather normal, forty-one-seven-o-two, and we see the value in the IR response, which I just pulled up, as being forty-one-eight-four-three?

MS. WHISSELL:  It appears I took the results from the wrong year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I didn't catch that.

MS. WHISSELL:  It appears that I took the results from the 2008 year end.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Buonaguro, is this material?  We are talking about a difference of a couple of customers, 140 customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right now, I can't tell you what the impact is.  I think she is saying that -- you took the numbers from the wrong place, is that --

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So perhaps I think what we actually want is we want the most recent one, anyway, so perhaps you can provide the numbers for the 2008 year end by way of an undertaking.

MS. WHISSELL:  So to do the same calculation as you here for 2008?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MS. WHISSELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And that will have 2008 year end values?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For customer count.  Okay, thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  That's undertaking J2.12.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.12:  TO UPDATE 31a TO REFLECT 2008 YEAR END DATA

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I am going to turn now to cost of capital questions, and most of my questions actually relate to the long-term debt.  First, I have to clarify some things, because I got a little confused from your direct evidence.

You mentioned in your direct evidence that the rate on the promissory note to the city - I think it's the city - is 7.26 percent.  You used the number 7.26 percent, but I think it's actually 7.25.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's 7.25.  7.26 is the rate within the note between holdco and wiresco, and then holdco pays up to the city at 7.25 percent, and historically 7.25 was set at a rate that was the maximum that was available for long-term debt.

And we have just used that number consistently over the years.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So which one is it that you want in the application?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  7.25 percent.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you're asking for the historical number?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are not asking for, for example, the deemed debt rate?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, I am not.  The note, as I said, has not been altered in any particular fashion.  We consider it to be long-term debt, and we want to preserve that particular position.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think if we were to talk in term of the Board's policy on long-term debt, I think you're telling me you consider it embedded debt.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Not only that but embedded debt that's been approved by the Board.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I should raise it because somebody is going to raise it after me in terms of the fact that the Board policy talks about whether affiliate debt is callable on demand, and I got a little confused on interrogatory response that you gave.  This is interrogatory response to Board Staff IR No. 42, which I am going to pull up.  And this isn't strictly speaking -- this is part B, this isn't strictly speaking about callable on demand but it's about whether or not it's payable on demand.  Do you remember that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In the end, it says:

"It has been and continues to be the Board's and shareholders' directive to not modify the note in any fashion.  As such, a change would trigger a limitation under the municipal act as to how long the municipality could hold a debt obligation issued by a municipally owned utility corporation."


Now, I take it in context of that question you are saying I guess you could negotiate a change in the terms of the promissory note on agreement to make it payable on demand but you can't do that for extraneous reasons.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Does the same apply to whether the city can, as a matter of practicality, call the note, which is an explicit right they have under the promissory?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It is a right as you say, yes, they have that right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  They have that right.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Do they have the same practical limitations on whether they can do that?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  At this juncture, we believe that the practices are consistent.  There would be no reason for them to initiate a call on that loan.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And what would happen if they did? Presumably you would have to refinance.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And where would you get the money?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Out of the open market.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that feasible?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  As I mentioned yesterday, with the appropriate guarantees from the city, it would be feasible.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the city would have to come and guarantee the loan.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But you did say that as a practical matter, they seem to be under the same restrictions in terms of doing that, that you are in terms of negotiating a term to make it payable.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes, as we understand, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, maybe I can pull up -- I don't think you have actually issued an official updated cost of capital set of numbers which are going to go into the draft order based on the Board's new parameters.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, we have not.  But it's something we understand must be done and we will do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  But you were asked in interrogatories, and I pull it up here, this is an interrogatory which is a VECC interrogatory appendix to 20(a) and (b), you see that?

This first one and it's labelled here:  "Recalculated based on Board revised rates issue March 16th, 2009" is the first page.

The second page is the original as filed.  And I just want to confirm, the original as filed, and I am going to blow it up for 2009, the weighted debt rate is a 6.83 percent; return on equity is 8.57; short-term debt is 4.47; and long-term debt is 7.01 percent.   This is all based on 7.25 percent; correct?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Based on 6.1 percent for the TD.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  For the proposed potential required 13 million, I believe, of new debt -- 12 million, I am sorry.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then if we go, if we go to the recalculated based on Board revised, the weighted debt rate changes to 6.9 percent; the return on equity is 8.01 which is the Board's new parameter for return on equity.  The short-term debt is 1.33, again straight of the Board's issuance of the new rates.  The 7.33 percent, is that still based on the 7.25?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  No, we bumped it up to the Board rates for the purposes of this presentation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For the purposes of this presentation, okay.

But my understanding is that not what you asking for.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's not what we are asking for.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You are asking for 7.25.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you are still asking for 6.01 percent on the --

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So in essence, the Board's long-term debt rate plays no part in your application.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am switching topics drastically.  Now I am going to revenue-to-cost ratios.  And I will start with a cite from your evidence.  I guess it starts Exhibit 8, tab 1, schedule 2, page 4.  And at lines 10 to 13, you basically give a summary of what you're doing.  And you basically want to begin to move closer to 100 percent revenue-to-cost ratios; correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In the case of the residential class, this entails, and I will pull up a reference, this is VECC No. 24.

For residential class this -- your proposal means moving from 94.61 percent to 96.95 percent; correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I have circulated the Board's report on -- sorry, the Board's November 2007 report, application of cost allocation for electricity distributors, EB-2007-0667, and I referred specifically to pages 4 to 8, and I don't think I have to pull them up because I don't think there is anything controversial in there but I just want to confirm several of the principles.

First, at page 8, you would agree and you have it here that the Board has adopted acceptable range for the revenue-to-cost ratios in the case of the residential class, and you have it here on this cite, the low end of the rage stated 5 percent and the high end of the range is 115 percent.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At pages 5 to 6 of the Board's report, and I'm going to paraphrase, would you agree the Board has some uncertainty as to the accuracy of the results of the current cost allocation filings due to reservations regarding the quality of the data and modelling experience?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And at page 4 of the report, would you agree that the Board concluded, and this is actually a quote, that:
"As a practical matter, there may be little difference of the revenue-to-cost ratio of near one and the theoretical ideal of one."


MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, based on these views of the Board based on the policy, why is it that your strategy is -- doesn't just focus on moving ratios that are outside the ranges within the range or the extremes of the range but also moves ratios like the residential class which are already within the acceptable range further towards one.

MS. WHISSELL:  In my direct evidence, I did indicate that the results of the cost allocation study supported our understanding that there was some cross-subsidization of the residential class by the GS over and under 50 customers, and that that was further supported by TC 8 that had been submitted, and at the time that we did our rate application, we thought it was reasonable to do a partial adjustment on that basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say supported by TC No. 8, are you suggesting -- and I am not a cost-allocation expert.

MS. WHISSELL:  Not necessarily supported, it kind of reaffirmed our opinion.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But do you have special data that you have added to the cost allocation filing process specific to Sudbury that suggests that there is a specific subsidization between the residential and the GS under 50 or is it a more general conclusion that based on where they fall in the range, the people under are being subsidized by the people over?

MR. BACON:  It's based on -- actually, it's based on a document that Bill Harper put together when he was at Ontario Hydro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am sure he will be glad to hear that.

MR. BACON:  That, in the old days, when we were all at Ontario Hydro doing rate design, we had guidelines.  They were called the Municipal Utility Guidelines For Rate-Setting Purposes, and within those guidelines if you -- you were allowed -- the guidelines allowed general service classes to be 10 percent higher than the residential classes, and if you stayed within those guidelines, then you went through the regulatory process at Ontario Hydro fairly quickly, which is what Mr. Harper was responsible for at the time.

So, by definition, I believe that Sudbury probably took those guidelines to the very limit, potentially, and loaded up -- and I guess loaded up the general service rates higher than the residential.  And in doing that, in a number of cases across the province, LDCs have always believed that the general service, to a certain degree, were subsidizing residential because of the interpretation of these guidelines, which were used to set rates before 1999, in the early '90s.

And, as a result, that particular rate structure has actually continued, because this is the first time we have ever adjusted rates for revenue cost ratios in the distribution business.  We have never done that, ever -- I would say ever, in my experience.

So this is the first time, and so what's happening is there is actually historical cost subsidization there in some cases.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say "in some cases", you mean in some utility cases?

MR. BACON:  In some utility cases, because it depended on the municipal electrical utility at the time.  They did not have to go to 10 percent, but they had the opportunity to go to 10 percent, and, in doing that, if they did that and stayed within the guidelines, then their approval process through the Ontario Hydro regulatory process went fairly quickly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it sounds like you are suggesting that a particular movement of revenue-cost ratios between the residential and the GS under 50 classes is appropriate in the case of Sudbury based on the very specific history of how their revenue-cost ratios were determined in the past; is that the justification?

MR. BACON:  First of all, let's just step back.  There were never any revenue-cost ratios determined in the past.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, then I may have used the word "revenue-cost ratios" too loosely, but because of a particular historical relationship between those two rate classes?

MS. WHISSELL:  It was deemed reasonable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that -- is that history on the record, other than what just happened now?

MR. BACON:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it wasn't submitted in support of your revenue-to-cost ratios that were proposed in this proceeding?

MR. BACON:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which means that none of -- the extent to which that historical data even exists is -- I don't want to say foggy, because what we really have is basically a summary that it appears to have existed, rather as opposed to the specifics of what actually happened.

MR. BACON:  Exactly.  Also, you have to remember that that was when rates were bundled.  They were all -- it was for the whole, generation, transmission, distribution, and at that time when rates were set for residential and general service, there was this guideline that you were allowed to allow residential rates to be 10 percent lower than general service rates.

MS. WHISSELL:  Essentially, in one rate year they might have passed a 3 percent increase on to residential and a 4 percent on to general service.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So as long as -- on the actual rate, as long as there wasn't a spread of more than 10 percent, you were okay?

MR. BACON:  Yes.  Just to be clear on the record, it was called the N rate.  You can take that back to Bill and he'll know exactly what I meant.

It is the difference on the N rate, because it was declining block structure, and all those kinds of things, but it is the difference on the N rate that you had a 10 percent movement you could work with.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't know this off the top of my head, but what is the percentage difference between the two rates now, between the residential and the GS under 50?

MS. WHISSELL:  We would have to calculate it.

MR. BACON:  I don't know.  We would have to calculate that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, I can calculate it on my own.  I thought you might know.

Can I ask you, hypothetically speaking, if the residential rate class was already at 96 percent, would you still be seeking to move it further towards one in the application?

MS. WHISSELL:  Hypothetically, I don't know.

MS. SPOEL:  This isn't an uninteresting line of questioning, but I am just wondering, given the Board's policy and given the decision that has already been made in a number of the 2009 cost-of-service applications, whether -- are you seriously intending to oppose the cost allocation -- 


MR. BUONAGURO:  I can think we have a history --

MS. SPOEL:  -- the cost allocation numbers that have been put forward by the utility, given that they are all within the range and seemed -- seem, so far, to meet the Board's guidelines?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think one of the issues is consistency across all rate applications in terms of applying the Board's policy, and we consistently, I think, if I remember correctly, advocate that if the class is within the Board's acceptable range, there should be no movement.

MS. SPOEL:  I think consistently the Board hasn't -- at least the applications we have been involved in, the Board doesn't necessarily agree with you, and that's why I'm asking the question.  You can make submissions, but I'm not sure how much you are going to get out of these witnesses.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I wanted to determine -- I mean, we can admit that there is some leeway in the Board policy in terms of whether or not the company can come up with very specific reasons why a specific rate class should be moved closer to one because there is some -- they have -- as opposed to the general feeling about the cost allocation finding, they have a specific reason why their utility has better information that justifies closer to one ratios, or some specific movement, which is what I have just been exploring.

I am actually -- that is the end of the topic, so that may be moot, but I am moving on to harmonization proposal, which does talk about revenue-cost ratios a little bit, but from a different perspective.  So I can move on to the next topic.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I am going to pull up Exhibit 8, tab 1, schedule 2, page 4, table 4, and blow it up.  We have already been here, but I am going to be looking at the table.

And this table tells me that based on your proposal of a residential revenue-cost ratio of 96.95 percent, the base distribution revenue requirement which is allocated to the residential rate class is $13,686,028; correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And turning to VECC 30B, we can see that $13.6 million in the first column -- or in the first row there; correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It just so happens that you haven't labelled these rows in the response, but the first row is residential class, obviously?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, the next column shows the revenues collected from the West Nipissing customer in each class based on the proposed phased-in rates; is that correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The then next column shows the difference by class, i.e., the allocated costs for each class which are not recovered from West Nipissing customers; correct?


MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So if you are allocating to the residential rate class based on your updated -- or your proposed revenue-cost ratio is $13,686,000, and you limit West Nipissing to a revenue requirement of 848 -- $848,355, the rest of that $13,686,000 is 12.837 million; right?


MS. WHISSELL:  On a straight-line calculation basis, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Now, but when you actually go to determine the rates for the rest of the Sudbury customers -- sorry, the rest of your customers which are in Sudbury, that's the actual split Sudbury column there; correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And you can tell from the face of the column here that you're charging the residential customers in Sudbury more than what is left over after you charge the West Nipissing customers, residential customers; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's because 12.96 million is more than 12.837 million.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now that means -- sorry.

MR. BACON:  My concern in that questioning is that the amount -- and I didn't put this together so I am - Nancy, help me here from I am wrong.  My concern is the assumption that the 848,355 is the West Nipissing final amount, that's not the case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So what is the West Nipissing final number?

MR. BACON:  I misspoke myself.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that is what -- assuming that the revenue requirement is as applied for.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Whether we know there is updates for it but for the purpose of the discussion.

MS. WHISSELL:  But in the rate tool, what was done was we took the combined rate class allocation and based on the allocation of proposed rates by class, after subtracting the bottom line total of 1.261 million for West Nipissing, those ratios were reapplied to the residual revenues to be recovered by Sudbury, that's why you see a difference in the two columns.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which ratios?

MS. WHISSELL:  Where you refer to Table 4, where on our consolidated rate proposal if we applied the same rates across the Board to all customers, Sudbury and West Nipissing area, proposing these allocated percentages in the third column, we came up with a 23,818,357 with a split showing 13,686,027 for residential and a total of the 23,818,357.  In the model that I ran, I subtracted the 1,261,210 total for West Nipissing, saying this is what we are getting from West Nipissing and the revenues we're deriving from the rate classes is simply a 50 percent step to the proposed rates on the consolidated basis.

I had the residual revenue of 22,557,147 and I said but I am going to still apply the same allocation ratios to the Sudbury customers.  And that's why the numbers have given you different results.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So I am just going the finish my thought then we can talk about it.

Doing it this way means that for the utility as a whole, for the residential class as a whole, you are recovering more than the 96.95 percent from the residential class because if 13.686 million is 96.95 percent.

MS. WHISSELL:  You point out, yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You are actually collecting more than that, you are collecting more than that.  It is something much higher --

MS. WHISSELL:  Acknowledged.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- well, not much higher but higher than 97 percent certainly.

MS. WHISSELL:  $130,000.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right. And you could have avoided that if all you did was take the calculated difference of 12,837,672 and applied that to the residential class for Sudbury.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And done that down the board.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there something wrong with that approach?

MS. WHISSELL:  Not necessarily.  I didn't think that what I had done was necessarily wrong either.  It was different approach.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And I think the advantage you may or may not agree, but would you agree that the advantage of what I have just proposed, which is to take the calculated difference and apply it for Sudbury customers, is that your residential class, your GS under 50 class as a whole for the utility would actually reflect the revenue-to-cost ratios that you are proposing as opposed to having higher than what you proposing for the Sudbury customer, residential, for example.

MS. WHISSELL:  On a whole, on a whole, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I just have one last area.

It has to do with bill impacts which -- it has to do with bill impacts.

I am going to turn up VECC 31(b) which we have looked to before, and I am going to highlight the -- this is a customer count by in the residential class by consumption.

So could you confirm for me the math which is that just over 16 percent of residential customers use less than 250 kilowatts per hour which you get by doing the 6,869 customers over 41,702?

MS. WHISSELL:  Seems reasonable.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And if we look at the January 9th, 2009, update to your evidence in appendix A, that's your bill impact analysis, and I will pull it up, it's the updated bill impact analysis.

And what I am showing here is your table that shows the bill impacts on the residential rate class for consumption 250, and I think you can see highlighted here for residential customers in the Sudbury area, the total bill impact is 12.94 percent.

MS. WHISSELL:  Would you mine just scrolling to the top so I can...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I can scroll down, but the West Nipissing number which is a few pages below that is 11.96 percent.

MS. WHISSELL:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You can take that subject to check, it just saves me from flipping.

MS. WHISSELL:  I am sure that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then generally speaking, at lower levels of monthly use, the percentage impacts are higher.  So if you are lower than 250-kilowatt-hours, your percentage impact gets higher and higher the lower you go.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Is it fair to conclude from this that more than 15 percent of residential customer will seek total bill impacts in excess of 10 percent?

MS. WHISSELL:  Based on your calculation, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And can you confirm that 1000-kilowatt hour residential customer in the Sudbury area will only see a total bill impact of 6.8 percent which is less than half that of a 260-kilowatt per hour customer.

MS. WHISSELL:  It appears correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you agree that one way to levelize these impacts would be to alter the fixed variable split such that more revenue is collected through the variable charge?

MS. WHISSELL:  That is one way to do it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Given the large impacts for low-use customers, and the much smaller impacts for higher volume residential customers, did you consider altering the fixed variable split as a mitigation strategy?

MS. WHISSELL:  We had when we had done the calculations, they were close to the 10 percent threshold.  We thought they were reasonable at that time.  We did provide subsequent information suggesting alternative calculations, but we have not officially refiled anything.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that to say that, let me just -- I want to make sure I understood that.  Originally, the impacts for most customers were closer to 10 but it's been revised since, is that what you are saying?

MS. WHISSELL:  No, the...  In the original calculation, that low end user in the 250 kilowatt-hour range, the overall impact was the 12.42 percent, close to a 10 percent threshold that we would have monitored.


Of that, 2.42 percent is other charges that are passed through, specifically transmission network and connection.  There is also a large impact from the smart meter rider.

And, on that basis, in our initial submission we still felt that those rates were reasonable.  But what I indicated was during an interrogatory, we were asked to provide alternative calculations that would bring them below the threshold, and we did provide those.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You say that as though you have no specific objection to those being as reasonable alternatives.  Am I correctly characterizing the way you're responding?

MS. WHISSELL:  I wouldn't want to necessarily speak on behalf of the entire utility.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I believe there is a response to interrogatory that I can't quote at the moment, but we can find it.  After doing all of that analysis, we went back to the foundations of our original applications where the revenue splits were calculated and approved, and ultimately we concluded that the fixed costs do reflect the costs of making that service available to all customers across the board, and we couldn't see ourselves to favouring one group of customers because they consume at the 250 level or less.

Why not 500?  Why not some other ratio?  So we are thinking from the perspective of fairness to all customers in total as opposed to a specific group.

The other thing, there was no indication to us, in our considerations, that customers of the 250 range were necessarily destitute or did not have the abilities to pay the fixed charges that are appropriate of making that system available to them.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think at the crux of that, you are telling me that you like your fixed charge and you don't want to lower it?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Pardon me?

MR. BUONAGURO:  At the centre of that response, you are telling me that you like the fixed charge and don't want to lower it for various reasons?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  That is right, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, there is a range of reasonable fixed charges that the Board provides, based on your utility's specific information?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I am not aware of that specific document, if there is such a document.  I believe that based on historical applications and past practices, that we remain consistent.  So I would believe that we were within those thresholds.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you are not sure?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  I am not sure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Could you undertake to situate your fixed charge in accordance with the Board's policy, i.e., is it above the Board's policy with respect to fixed charges?  Is it below?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We can certainly do that.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, do you want to point to where to find that policy?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I know where it is, but not off the top of my head.  So I can undertake to provide them the information and to work with them on the undertaking, if you like.

MS. WHISSELL:  Those ratios are in the cost allocation study.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it's actually in the same report I put on the record.

MS. WHISSELL:  I am more familiar, and we may not in all cases be below the suggested Board threshold, but that document also suggests that you are not obligated to lower your fixed charge.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that may be the case, that you aren't obligated to, but you would agree that there are considerations that you might look at in terms of moving your fixed charge within the range, i.e., rate impacts on certain customers?

MR. BACON:  I think that policy is open to interpretation, because in a number of cases we have put forward to maintain the fixed variable split, and that has been accepted by the Board, even though it would put a service charge higher than what some people would interpret that policy to say.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And to the extent that it's open to interpretation or that it gives you flexibility, one of the things you might consider are the general rate impacts, for example; wouldn't that be correct?

MS. SPOEL:  Isn't this perhaps getting into the realm of argument here, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just responding to the answer.

MS. SPOEL:  I understand that.  Perhaps this can be dealt with in argument.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And really what I need for the purposes of argument is to situate the fixed charge in the range, because, for example, if your residential fixed charge was three times the maximum you are supposed to be charging, I have a much stronger argument, and if it's one-half at the bottom end of the range for the company, then I don't really have a good argument.  So I just want to situate it, that's all.

MS. WHISSELL:  So I will provide you with the table.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MS. SEBALJ:  We are at undertaking J2.13.  I don't know -- again, we have quite a lot on the record as to what it is.  I don't know if we want to summarize it for purposes of the transcript.

MR. BUONAGURO:  To situate the fixed charge for the residential rate class as proposed in the application relative to the Board's policy on the range of acceptable fixed charges.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.13:  To situate the fixed charge for the residential rate class as proposed in the application relative to the Board's policy on the range of acceptable fixed charges.

MR. BACON:  I could maybe help out with the wording.  In the cost allocation model, there are various fixed charges calculated.  And I think that's what you are looking for.  Is that what you are looking for?  One is the avoided cost and the other one is the...

It's -- yes, you have it there.  Jay has it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Minimum system with PLCC adjustment.

MR. BACON:  Yes, exactly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. SPOEL:  Before you start, I just want to ask a question about the low volume customers.  What would -- do you have a fair number of seasonal customers in the Greater Sudbury Hydro service area, or is that not -- or are they all served by Hydro One?

MS. WHISSELL:  I don't think it's a very big number.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, I just wondered.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, it turns out I do have one question.

MS. SPOEL:  Very well.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And this relates to fixed variable charges.  Your existing fixed charge for GS over 50 is one-seventy-eight-ninety-six?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're proposing to reduce it to one-seventy-six-thirty-three; right?

MS. WHISSELL:  I will say that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason for that is because it's already well over the maximum in the Board's range.  The Board's range, will you accept, subject to check, that it's -- $78.87 would be the maximum; that is, the minimum system with PLCC?

MS. WHISSELL:  I believe in our rate application we tabled that we were maintaining the fixed variable split that we had existing, and, as a result of the realignment of the ratios per cost allocation, it came down because of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, sorry, I didn't understand that.  You were maintaining the fixed variable split, or you were maintaining the revenue allocation?

MS. WHISSELL:  The percentage of revenue allocated to fixed and the percentage of revenue allocated to variable, we have maintained our existing split in this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the interaction of changes to the load forecast with changes to the revenue requirement produced a drop in the fixed charge, even though your revenue requirement went up?

MR. BACON:  It suggests to me the revenue requirement for general service less than 50 has gone down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So when you were considering how to set up your fixed charge for GS over 50, did you take into account the economic conditions in your city and the impact of higher fixed charges on businesses?

MS. WHISSELL:  No, we did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And would it be reasonable for you to consider whether -- given that your fixed charge is already more than twice, well over twice the Board maximum, to consider lowering that fixed charge and increasing the volumetric charge?  Is that something that is -- would have an economic benefit in your city?

MR. BACON:  Do you want me to answer this question?  We are getting into argument again.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't want to argue.  I am asking about your strategy.  I am not asking about -- we can make the argument about what the Board should do.

MS. WHISSELL:  But our strategy was that if we got 50 percent -- or if we got 60 percent from the fixed component and 40 from the variable, we have maintained that percentage for the 2009 rate year.  That was our strategy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So no part of the analysis was the impact on the customers given this economic condition?

MS. WHISSELL:  Well, I do believe that we reviewed the rate impacts on those two classes and they were reasonable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no further questions, thanks.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you Mr. Shepherd.

Ms. Sebalj.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:

MS. SEBALJ:  Just a quick follow-up question first on cost of debt.  You indicated that you are going to seek a loan somewhere between 12 and 13 million from a third party, arm's-length third party, and you indicated that the rate is 6.1 percent.  Do you have a quote for that?  On what basis are you citing 6.1 percent?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  It's through conversations with our existing banker.  As I said in my evidence, bankers don't appreciate giving you hard prices unless you are prepared to go forward with the specified amounts.  So I got an estimate of the ranges of the cost of debt, plus stamping fees, plus service charges with our normal bankers and I arrived at the 6.19 percent.

Supporting that, I have taken out a loan very recently in respect of the one-seven company for the gas generation facility, and that rate is very close to the rate that is substantiated, it is a rate that is ongoing and I am currently paying over a 20-year window.

MS. SEBALJ:  Have you, I know we talked about what would happen in the event that the affiliate loan from the city was called, but sort of to flip that scenario for a second, has the utility ever thought about taking out more third-party arm's-length debt at a lower rate to replace some of the higher cost debt with the city?

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  We have.  It's really a decision outside of our scope.  We did enter into the note facilities.  Why would anyone want to adjust, in these economic times, a document that fixed the rate at seven and a quarter percent?  So they are very adamant on their side that they want this particular facility to continue.


We can't pay it down, we can't put it to them.

MS. SEBALJ:  Fair enough.  I am going to move now to a couple of questions about other revenue.  Exhibit 3, tab 3, schedule 1, page 2.  3, 3, 1, page 1.

MS. WHISSELL:  We have it.

MS. SEBALJ:  I just want to confirm that the -- for the 2009 test year, the total other distribution revenue is what I will call 1.7 million, but it is the 1,697,880; is that correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  In response to Board Staff Interrogatory Supplementary No. 3, sub B, this is in the supplementary...

MS. WHISSELL:  Bear with me.

MS. SEBALJ:  And with me.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  You provided an itemized list of other distribution revenues, and that total, as far as I can tell, is the 908,542 for 2009; is that what that is showing?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So these amounts are obviously different.  And I am trying to determine what the discrepancy is between the two.

MS. WHISSELL:  I can't go line by line, but I could just speed it up and say I could explain to you what the difference is in an undertaking.  The first one, 187,236 agrees to the second from the bottom on Exhibit 3,tab 3.

MS. SEBALJ:  We did the same thing and it looks like, going by the account, the 4082, 4084 and the 4390 may explain it but if you could undertake to just give us --

MS. WHISSELL:  We can do that.  We will reconcile the two tables for you.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, reconcile the two tables and tell us what number we should be working with if you can do that.  That's Undertaking J2.14, so it's to reconcile the summary of other distribution revenue provided at Exhibit 3, tab 3, schedule 1, page 1, for the 2009 test year with the table provided at Board Staff IR 3(b), the 908,542 number.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.14: TO RECONCILE THE SUMMARY OF OTHER DISTRIBUTION REVENUE PROVIDED AT EXHIBIT 3, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 1, FOR THE 2009 TEST YEAR WITH THE TABLE PROVIDED AT BOARD STAFF IR 3(b), THE 908,542 NUMBER

MS. WHISSELL:  I can tell you now that the correct number is the 1,697,880.  There are obvious omissions in this table.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you, that is helpful, helpful for further questions going forward.

Moving now to questions with respect to cost allocation.

Greater Sudbury filed a revised 2006 cost allocation study in its informational filing which is on the record, and you resized it in transcript undertaking number 4, which was revised for what has become known here as the Harper adjustment but revisions adjusting for transformer allowance.

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  So my question to you is:  Is this the appropriate starting point for the Board to look at revenue-to-cost ratios for the utility?

MS. WHISSELL:  That's reasonable, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And am I correct in saying that we have no information for West Nipissing with respect to -- we have no information with respect to West Nipissing, revenue-to-cost ratios, load profile, any of that sort of information.

MS. WHISSELL:  That's correct.

MS. SEBALJ:  So with respect to attributing cost allocation information to West Nipissing, I had a look at Board Staff Interrogatory No. 51(b) and you were asked in that interrogatory to please confirm that the informational filing including the update applies only to Greater Sudbury exclusive of West Nipissing, and I think you have just answered.

MS. WHISSELL:  I believe we said yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  For some reason, at least my version and everyone I have been able the find doesn't have an answer to 51(b) but I assume that if answer is yes.

So for the purposes of this proceeding, is it your evidence that we should be using -- that we are going to apply the revenue-to-cost ratios across the board to West Nipissing, as well?

MS. WHISSELL:  That is our request to the Board, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Now, it seems that the revenue-to-cost ratio for GS greater than 50 might be a bit of a stretch for West Nipissing.  Do you have any explanation for that?

MS. WHISSELL:  I will defer to Mr. Reeves and Mr. Pawlowicz.

MR. REEVES:  Well, I will start by saying that when we entered into a purchase agreement with West Nipissing and when we had a look at their current rates, we recognized that especially the GS larger than 50 were extremely low.  And we made that clear to the CEO, and so on, because we knew that through the rate-setting process, that's eventually going to have to be adjusted to a more normal rate.

MR. PAWLOWICZ:  Some of the further actions that we did take to try to address this issue, because it was since inception, since the purchase, we have had town meetings.  We have had the general service contingent into these meetings to explain the anomaly, and we did advise that it was something that would be corrected when the opportunities for us came forward to apply to the Board to do so, and to satisfy the conditions of our purchase agreement.

We made a commitment for a number of years that there would be no changes.  That has now expired, and the community does understand that this situation is coming forward.

MS. SEBALJ:  Fair enough, thanks.  Turning now to Exhibit 9, tab 1, schedule 1, which is the bill impact package, but I am just looking at page 2 now, which is the table entitled "2009 Test Year Class Revenue Design", and specifically looking at the third column from the right, which is existing rates.

MS. WHISSELL:  Could you please tell me the page number again?

MS. SEBALJ:  It is page 2 of 26.

MS. WHISSELL:  Okay.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am assuming that this calculation is based on loads from Sudbury alone; is that correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  The cost allocation figures?

MS. SEBALJ:  The existing rates in the third column from the right.

MS. WHISSELL:  I suspect it's combined, too.

MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, really?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  Ms. Sebalj, this is the number we went through with Mr. Buonaguro, where there is the 22,500,000 at the beginning of the page where this same number came up.

MS. SEBALJ:  So this is combined?

MS. WHISSELL:  It would have been West Nipissing load at West Nipissing rates, plus Sudbury load at Sudbury rates, I believe.

MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  We spoke a bit about -- well, in the -- in that brief discussion, about the GS greater than 50.  We have talked also at the technical conference about the harmonization plans, and I would just like to get on the record what Greater Sudbury is asking for in terms of the harmonization of rates with West Nipissing.

MS. WHISSELL:  What we had proposed in our rate application was a two-year phase-in of rates, so that they would move 50 percent towards the proposed consolidated rate in our calculations in year one, and they would move to 100 percent in year two.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am just trying to eliminate questions that have already been asked.  We spoke at -- my first question related to other revenues, which I think we have confirmed is 1.7 million, although you are going to give a breakdown of that.

Has this full amount of other revenue been allocated amongst the classes?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes, it has.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that means, therefore, that these amounts are included in the table provided at Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 2.  So the revenue-to-cost ratios in that table, which are the proposed ratios in the last column -- sorry, this is Exhibit 8, tab 1, schedule 2, table 3.

MS. WHISSELL:  Exhibit 8, tab 1, schedule 2, table 2; is that correct?

MS. SEBALJ:  Table 3.  The last column, as I understand it, is the revenue-to-cost ratios that Greater Sudbury is asking for in the application?

MS. WHISSELL:  I believe so, yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  And those include the allocation among the classes of other revenues?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  Did Greater Sudbury consider a longer period for rate harmonization in order to avoid the rate impact to West Nipissing or to Sudbury?

MS. WHISSELL:  We had an issue when we looked at the three- to five-year range, but once we calculated the numbers and went through the different scenarios of the impacts for a longer period, we were comfortable with the two-year phase-in.

MS. SEBALJ:  I am getting there.  My apologies.  There are a lot of questions here that were covered.  In Board Staff supplemental Interrogatory No. 17, which is at page 16 of Board Staff's supplementary interrogatories, there was a question about reducing the rate rider for smart meters to one dollar the $1.94 that's asked for in the application.


MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  I believe that there is a reference later in the IRs to the impacts that would have on financing, and so the question really is:  Would this result in a need for more money and, if so, how much?

MS. WHISSELL:  It would certainly require additional financing.  We would have to -- I couldn't give you the exact amount.

MS. SEBALJ:  Could you provide me with an undertaking?

MS. WHISSELL:  I could do that.

MS. SEBALJ:  So that's J2.15, which is if the smart meter adder was reduced to $1, what additional monies would be required.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.15:  TO ADVISE IF THE SMART METER ADDER WAS REDUCED TO $1, WHAT ADDITIONAL MONIES WOULD BE REQUIRED

MS. SEBALJ:  Item number 5 in response to supplementary -- to the Board's Supplementary Interrogatory No. 3(b), is interest RSVA balances.

MS. WHISSELL:  Could you please repeat the reference?

MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, Board Staff Supplementary IR.  It's page 5, IR 3(b).  It's question 3(b).

MR. BACON:  It's interest RSV balances?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  And there is 50,000 in there?

MS. WHISSELL:  Yes.

MS. SEBALJ:  There is a decision in Niagara-on-the-Lake which establishes, this is EB-2008-0237, which establishes that this item is to be kept separate from the utility's regular accounts and any interest earned goes towards decreasing its regulatory assets balance.

So I am wondering if we can ask you to update on that basis.

MS. WHISSELL:  Could you repeat what the ruling was?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  I do have copies of the decision here, just so that it's properly on the record.

MS. SPOEL:  Ms. Sebalj, do you want to mark this as an exhibit?

MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.  It's Exhibit K1.3 -- sorry 2.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  EB-2008-0237 DECISION

MS. SPOEL:  Is there a specific reference in here that you were --

MR. BACON:  Just to confirm, in Niagara-on-the-Lake, I think it was both sides which meant the interest income on RSVA came out as well as the interest expense, if there were...


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And so here we are talking about the -- here we are talking about the revenue; correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  We have both interest and demand interest expense on our RSVA balances.  As a result of the audit by OEB last year, we were required to split them out, so we do have both components.

MS. SEBALJ:  Okay but the 50,000 is the revenue component, the 50,000 that I'm referring to on the table; is that correct?

MS. WHISSELL:  In our budget, yes, but we also have an expense component that if the revenue component comes out, then I would expect that the expense component would come out as well.

MS. SEBALJ:  And that's fair but can you point me to where that is?

MS. WHISSELL:  Not right now I can't.

MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  Can I ask then that the undertaking be to make that adjustment on both the revenue and the expense side of the ledger?  Sorry, I was interrupted -- the reference and this is a decision EB-2008-0237, and it's the application by Niagara-on-the-Lake for its 2009 rates, and the reference is on page 7 of that decision:

"The Board finds that any interest associated with deferral and variance accounts does not form part of the calculation of the revenue requirement as it remains in and forms part of those accounts until cleared."


That's the only relevant piece.

MS. WHISSELL:  So in effect, this would reduce our revenue offset and increase our rates; is that your understanding?

MS. SEBALJ:  I guess it depends on the -- I don't know what the other number is that you are referring to.  I don't know what the other side of the ledger is.  I only have in front of me the 50,000 in revenue.  I don't know the net effect because I don't know the expense part of the ledger.

MS. WHISSELL:  We will undertake to provide an answer.

MS. SEBALJ:  That's J2.16.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.16:  TO UPDATE BOTH REVENUE AND EXPENSE RSVA BALANCES RELATIVE TO DECISION OF EB-2008-0237

MS. SEBALJ:  Those are all my questions, thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.  The Board has no questions.

Mr. Sidlofsky, do you have any re-examination for this panel?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I don't.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you very much, witness panel, you now excused.  If I can -- there are a couple of matters, though, before we adjourn.

First of all, let me just make sure I don't forget anything here, one of the - well, perhaps we should start by discussing a schedule for written argument, and I think we have to first of all be mindful of how long it might take to properly answer the large number of undertakings and you may -- maybe we should take five-minute break and perhaps -- well, here are the issues.

How much time will it take to answer the interrogatories and then what's a reasonable schedule following that for the various parties to do argument, reply argument -- argument and so on?

The other thing that we would like you to -- specifically like to have addressed in the argument is the question of the cost allocation study, what the scope should be, and what a reasonable time frame for it to be prepared in.

MS. NOWINA:  I think that's the corporate allocation and the transfer pricing issue.

MS. SPOEL:  Yeah, the transfer pricing issue, that cost allocation study, not rates.  You have done that in 2006.  I mean the one we spoke about earlier that you agreed to undertake.

So how to determine what the scope of the study should be and also what the timing of that study should be, and then because this forms the foundation of a four-year IRM process, what should be done once we have the results of the study as that may have some effect on what the cost base is going forward and what the Board might do to deal with that.

We are thinking, but we invite submissions on this point obviously.  We are thinking perhaps having a very limited scope hearing, written or otherwise, dealing specifically with the outcome of that hearing and perhaps readjusting rates and the cost base going forward, once we have the results.

We don't know what they are going to be so we can't do it, but as it forms the base of a four-year IRM program, we don't think it's appropriate if there are substantial changes, it's probably not appropriate, we think, to just carry forward and wait for another four years to go by.  But that is something to address in argument.

And the other thing is the -- specifically again to address in argument is:  What should be done about allocating the cost of the new CIS system, and not necessarily -- again, you can address whether the Tillsonburg model should be followed or some other approach, given your particular situation, but we would like argument from all parties on that issue, as well.

Are there any questions about any of -- or any clarifications on any of that?  I realize it's late in the day.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I don't think so, no.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  So, now, in terms of -- you may want to obviously confer with your clients about a schedule for answering the undertakings, and if you want a couple of minutes for that, or perhaps Ms. Sebalj can --

MS. SEBALJ:  I am happy to -- if you want to close the record, I am happy to discuss with the parties what a reasonable timeline is, assuming that --

MS. SPOEL:  Perhaps that's the best way to do it, yes, and then you can do a procedural order once that discussion is complete.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That's fine.  I think it may help for the Sudbury people to be able to go back to their office and give some thought as to how long it may take.


MS. SPOEL:  We would like to get that done Monday to come up with a timeline.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes.


MS. SPOEL:  We don't want to take a week before we decide what the time is going to be.  We would like to get the procedural order out right away.  It's something that could perhaps be better done by e-mail, or whatever, on Monday.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Could I just one question of clarification, just with respect to your comment about how the panel is thinking, having a short process to deal with the outcome of the transfer pricing study?

I am assuming what you are expecting in argument is not only comments about what that process should be or submissions about what that process should be, but about whether there should be such a process or whether that process can wait for the next rebasing.


MS. SPOEL:  Of course, yes, yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So there is no dismissal of the idea of waiting to the next --

MS. SPOEL:  No, these are preliminary.  We would like submissions on these kinds of issues.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That is much clearer.  Thank you.


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, do you have anything else before we adjourn for the day?

Thank you.  I appreciate your forthcoming -- explaining all of the issues.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 5:14 p.m.


















PAGE  

